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IN THE UNITED STATES DRISTRICT COURT
FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF MISSISSIPPI
SOUTHERN DIVISION

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI ex rel.
JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL OF
THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI,

SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF MISSISSIPPI

BY

FiLED

JUN 12 2014

ARTHUR JOHNSTON

DEPUTY)

CASENO.: |ML V ZHC% L@”JMK

Plaintiff,
V.

EXPERIAN INFORMATION SOLUTIONS,
INC,,

Defendant,

NOTICE OF REMOVAL

Defendant Experian Information Solutions, Inc. (“Experian”) hereby gives notice of the

removal of this civil action from the Chancery Court of Harrison County, Mississippi, to the

United States District Court for the Southern District of Mississippi. This action is removable

because it presents substantial federal questions over which this Court has original jurisdiction.

See 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331, 1341.

INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

1. On May 16, 2014, the State of Mississippi (“State of Mississippi”), through its

Attorney General Jim Hood, filed a complaint (“Complaint”) against Experian in the Chancery

Court of Harrison County, Mississippi (Case No. 14-1212(4)) (“State Court Action”).

2. Experian received the Complaint on May 16, 2014 and a copy of the summons on

May 27,2014. This Notice of Removal is therefore timely pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1446(b).
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3. Copies of all process, pleadings, and orders received by Experian are attached as
Exhibit A and incorporated by reference. See 28 U.S.C. § 1446(a); Local R. 5(b); Administrative
Procedures section 3B(2).'

4. Promptly after the filing of this Notice of Removal, Experian will provide notice
to the State of Mississippi through the attorney(s) of record identified in the Complaint and will
file a copy of this Notice with the Clerk of the Chancery Court of Harrison County, Mississippi,
pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1446(d).

THIS COURT HAS ORIGINAL JURISDICTION OVER THIS CASE

5. A case may be removed to a federal court if it could have been brought in that
federal court originally. 28 U.S.C. § 1441(a). Federal courts have original federal question
jurisdiction over all civil claims “arising under the Constitution, laws, or treaties of the United
States.” 28 U.S.C. § 1331.

6. This Court has original jurisdiction over this action because the Complaint, on its
face, purports to assert claims under two federal statutes: (i) the Fair Credit Reporting Act
(“FCRA™), 15 U.S.C. § 1681 et seq. {see Complaint Claims II-VII); and (ii) the Dodd-Frank
Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act, 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1}(B) (“Dodd Frank

Act™) (see Complaint Claim VIII).

FEDERAL QUESTION JURISDICTION
7. The State of Mississippi’s FCRA and Dodd Frank claims arise under the

laws of the United States. Thus, removal is appropriate pursuant to federal question

! Included in Exhibit A are: (i) a redacted copy of the Complaint that the State of Mississippi filed
publically in the State Court Action; (ii) an order authorizing the State of Mississippi to file an unredacted copy of
the Compiaint under seal (“State Court Sealing Order™); (iii) a summons to Experian; and (iv) the State of
Mississippi’s First Request for Production of Documents. Consistent with the State Court Sealing Order, and to
protect confidential and proprietary information, Experian will seek leave to file the unredacted Complaint under
seal as soon as it is able to do so electronically, See Local R. 79(b); Administrative Procedures section 6A(2)A).
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jurisdiction. 28 U.S.C. §1441(a); Washington v. Direct Gen. Ins. Agency, 130 F.Supp.2d 820,
824 (S.D. Miss. 2000) (lawsuits brought in state court under the FCRA are removable pursuant
to federal question jurisdiction).

8. This Court also has federal question jurisdiction over the State of Mississippi’s
claim under the Mississippi Consumer Protection Act (“MCPA”) (Claim I), which is based
almost entirely on “the acts and practices that violate the FCRA discussed herein.” (See Compl.
9 169 [alleging that “all of the acts and practices that violate the FCRA discussed herein
constitute unfair and deceptive practices or acts under the Mississippi Consumer Protection Act™];
see also Compl. 9 165-167 [alleging same violations as alleged in FCRA claims]). Because the
State of Mississippi’s “right to relief” under its MCPA claim is expressly based on a disputed
federal question, removal of the MCPA claim to this Court is proper. See French v. Emc Mortg.
Corp., 2014 U.S. App. LEXIS 8105 (5th Cir. 2014) (affirming removal of state claim asserting
relief for violations of federal statute); see also Grable & Sons Metal Prods. v. Darue Eng'g &
Mfg., 545 U.S. 308, 314 (U.S. 2005) (affirming removal where violation of federal statute was
essential element of state claim).

SUPPLEMENTAL JURISDICTION

9. In addition to federal question jurisdiction over the MCPA claim, this Court has
supplemental jurisdiction over that claim. Pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1367(a), “the district courts
shall have supplemental jurisdiction over all other claims that are so related to claims in the
action within such original jurisdiction that they form part of the same case or controversy
under Article Il of the United States Constitution.” Claims are considered part of the “same
case or controversy” as other claims when they derive from a common nucleus of fact. See

Davis v. Dep’t of Health & Hosp., 195 F. App’x 203, 205 (5th Cir. 2006) (affirming
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supplemental jurisdiction over state law claim where a substantial number of factual issues were
common to both state and federal claims.)
10.  Asdiscussed above, the State of Mississippi’s federal claims under the FCRA and
Dodd Frank and its state law claim under the MCPA derive from a common nucleus of
operative fact, premised on alleged violations of statutory duties under the FCRA and
Experian’s alleged deceptive conduct towards consumers. As such, this Court has supplemental
jurisdiction over the state court claim, and removal of the entire case to this Court is proper.
WHEREFORE, Experian having demonstrated that this Court may properly exercise
jurisdiction over this matter, and having timely provided this Notice of Removal, the above-
entitled action is hereby removed from the Chancery Court of Harrison County, Mississippi to
this Court.
Dated: June 12, 2014 Respecttully submitted,

By: Q £ WW

F. Ewin Henson, I1I, MSB No. 2363

Upshaw, Williams, Biggers & Beckham, LLP
309 Fulton Street

Greenwood, Mississippi, 38930

Telephone: (662) 455-1613

Email: ehenson@upshawwilliams.com
Counsel for Defendant

EXPERIAN INFORMATION SOLUTIONS,
INC.
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

This is to certify that I have caused to be mailed on this date, first-class postage prepaid, a
true and correct copy of the foregoing Corporate Disclosure Statement to the following:

Geoffrey Morgan, Esq.

George W. Neville, Esq.

Mary Jo Woods, Esq.

S. Martin Millette, Esq.

Special Assistant Attorneys General
Office of the Mississippi Attorney General
P.O. Box 220

Jackson, MS 392035

Wynn E. Clark, Esq.

Law Firm of Wynn E. Clark
2510 16™ Street

Gulfport, MS 39501

Dated: June 12, 2014

;é}j [?éfw-m

F. Ewin Henson, III, MSB No. 2363

LAI-3216017




Case 1:14-cv-00243-LG-JMR Document 1-1 Filed 06/12/14 Page 1 of 1

JS 44 (Rev. 12/12)

provided by local rules of court. This form, approved by the Judicial Con

CIVIL COVER SHEET

The JS 44 civil cover sheet and the information contained herein neither rerplace nor supplement the filing and service of pleadings or other papers as required by law, except as
<

purpose of initiating the civil docket sheet.  (SEE INSTRUCTIONS ON NEXT PAGE OF THIS FORM )

|

1. () PLAINTIFFS

State of Mississippi ex rel. Jim Hood, Attorney General of the State of

Mississippi -

(b) County of Residence of First Listed Plaintiff
(EXCEPT IN ULS. PLAINTINF CASES)

DEFENDANTS

(c) Attorneys (Firm Name, Address, and Telephone Number) Atterneys

George W. Neville, Esq., Geoffrey Morgan, Esq., Mary Jo Woods, Esq.,
S. Martin Millette, Esq., Office of the Mississippi Attorney General,

P.0. Box 220, Jackson, MS 39205, (601) 359-3680
Wynn E. Clark, Esq., 2510 16" St., Gulfport, MS. 39501, (228) 575-9996

NOTE: INLANDCO

THE TRACT

Attorneys (If Known)

Experian Information Solutions, Ing.

County of Residence of First Listed Defgndary

Yoy 44

LMK

rence of the United States in September 1974, is required for the use of the Clerk of Court for the

SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF MISSISSIPPI

FILED

NS PLAINTHEE C.

| JUN 12 2014

LS ONLEL

NDEMNATION CAJES, USE
OF LAND INVOLVHIBY

THETHR (AR

DEPUTY

F. Ewin Henson, Ill, Esg., Uphaw Williams, Biggers & Beckham, LLP
309 Fulton Street, Greenwood, MS 38930 (662) 455-1613

I1. BASIS OF JURISDICTION (Piace an X" in One Box Only)

0 1 US. Govemment

Plaintif!

0 2 US. Government
Defendant

M 3 Federal Question

.8 Gaveryent Nut a Purty)

3O 4 Diversity

{Indicate Citizenship of Parties in Htem H)

(For Diversity Cases Only)

I11. CITIZENSHIP OF PRINCIPAL PARTIES (Place an "X in One Box for Plainifj’

and (ne Bux for Defendant)

PTF DEF PTF DEF
Citizen of This State Q1! O 1 Incorporated or Principal Place 04 O4
of Business {n This State
Citizen of Another State 02 0O 2 Incorporated and Principal Place gs 0535
of Business In Anather State
Citizen or Subject of 3 O3 O 3 Foreign Nation 06 068

Foreign Country

IV. NATURE OF SUIT (Place un “X*" in One Box Only)

| REAL PROPERTY

195 Contract Product Liability
196 Franchise

0 360 Other Personal
Injury

O 362 Persenal Injury -
Medical Malpractice

Property Damage
O 385 Property Damage
Product Liability

CIVIL RIGHTS

FRISONER PETTTIONS |

0 210 Land Condemnation

O 220 Foreclosure

0 230 Rent Lease & Ejeciment
) 240 Torts to Land

) 245 Tort Preduct Liability
0 290 All Other Real Property

3 440 Othet Civil Rights

3 441 Voting

O 442 Employment

O 443 Housing/
Accommadations

() 445 Amer. w/Disabilities -
Employment

3 446 Amer. w/Disabilities -
Other

[ 448 Education

Habeas Corpus:
O 463 Alien Detainee
0 510 Motions to Vacate
Sentence
O 530 General

3 740 Raiiway Labor Act

() 751 Family and Medical
Leave Act

0 790 Other Labor Litigation

0 865 RSI (405(g))

O 791 Employee Retirement
Income Security Act

FEDERAL TAX SUITS
{3 870 Taxes (U.S. Plaintift’
or Defendant)
[ 871 [RS—Third Party
26 USC 7609

3 535 Death Penalty

IMMIGRATION

Other:
O 540 Mandamus & Other
0 550 Civil Rights
O 555 Prison Condttion
O 560 Civil Detainee -
Conditions of’
Confinement

0 462 Naturalization Application
0 465 Other [minigration
Actions

893 Environmental Matters

895 Freedom of [nformation
Act

896 Arbitration

899 Administrative Procedure
AcUReview or Appeal of
Agency Decision

950 Constitutionality of
State Statutes

[ CONTRACT TORTS FORFEIT ﬁ_l}E/PENALTY BANKRUPTCY OTHER STATUTES ]
0 110 Insurance PERSONAL INJURY PERSONAL INJURY  |D 625 Drug Related Seizure 0 422 Appeal 28 USC 158 O 375 False Claims Act
3 120 Maring 0 310 Airplane 3 365 Personal Injury - of Praperty 21 USC 881 |0 423 Withdrawal 3 400 State Reapportionment
3 130 Miller Act £3 315 Airplane Product Product Liability 1 690 Other 28 USC 157 0 410 Antitrust
(3 140 Negotiable Instrument Liability O 367 Health Care/ ) 430 Banks and Banking
(3 150 Recovery of Gverpayment |0 320 Assault, Libel & Pharmaceutical PROPERTY RIGHTS 0 450 Commerce
& Enforcement of Judgment Slander Personal [njury 0 820 Copyrights 0 460 Deportation
03 151 Medicare Act O 330 Federal Employers’ Product Liability 1 830 Patemt 0 470 Racketeer Influenced and
O 152 Recovery of Detaulted Liability T 368 Asbestos Personal O 840 Trademask Corrupt Organizations
Student Loans 0 340 Marine Injury Product ¥ 480 Consumer Credit
(Excludes Veterans) 3 345 Marine Product Liability _LABOR SOCIAL SECURITY O 490 Cable/Sat TV
0 153 Recovery of Overpayment Liability i PERSONAL PROPERTY [0 710 Fair Labor Standards O 861 HIA (13951) 3 850 Securites/Comnodiuies:
of Veteran's Bencfits 0 350 Motor Vehicle 3 370 Cther Fraud Act D 862 Biack Lung (923) Exchange
0 160 Stockholders' Suits 0 355 Motor Vehicle 3 371 Truth in Lending O 720 Labar/Management 7 863 DIWC/DIWW (405(p); | O 890 Other Statutory Actions
0 190 Other Contract Product Liability O 3380 Other Personal Relations 0 864 SSID Tide XVI O 891 Agricultural Acts
[n} u)
0 gs
[u}
o

V. ORIGIN ¢Piace an “X" in One Bux tinly)

O 1 Original

Proceeding

2 Removed from
State Court

0 3 Remanded from
Appellate Court

a4

Reinstated or
Reopened
(specify)

0 5 Transferred from.
Another District

0O 6 Multidistrict
Litigation

V1. CAUSE OF ACTION

Cite the U.S. Civil Statute under which you are filing (Do not cite jurisdictional stututes unless diversity):

Plaintiff alleges viola_tion of Fair Credit Reporting Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1681 et seq; Dodd Frank Act 12U S C. § 5536

Plaintiff a

Brief descrii)hon of cause;
leges violations of the above statutes.

VII. REQUESTED IN (J CHECKIF THISIS A CLASS ACTION DEMAND $ CHECK YES only if demanded in complaint:
COMPLAINT: UNDER RULE 23, FR.Cv.P. JURY DEMAND: O Yes {JNo
VIII. RELATED CASE(S) -
IF ANY Mee bmiricions) 1 DGE DOCKET NUMBER B )
DATE SIGNATURE OF ATTORNEY OF RECORD
06/12/2014
FOR OFFICE USE ONLY
RECEIPT # AMOUNT APPLYING 1FP JUDGE MAG. JUDGE

HUH 200594




Case 1:14-cv-00243-LG-JMR Document 1-2 Filed 06/12/14 Page 1 of 102
Page 1 of 85 '

Case: 24CH1:14-cv-01212 Document #: 2  Filed: 05/16/2014

IN THE CHANCERY COURT OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL DYISTRICT OF
HARRISON COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI ex rel
JIM HOOD, AETORNEY GENERAL OF
THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI
Plaintiff, Civil Action No ] l/t a‘ Lf ;
v. f
. EXPERIAN INFORMATION U I l E
SOLUTIONS, INC.,
o 16 201
Defendant. MAY .
JOHN McADAMS, CHANGERY CLERK
D.C.
COMPLAINT
j
|
\HJ i /-
\\ \‘\\\ l\’nj)v o ’
Jome Qomf?
('/*?/f??""‘ﬁ.,-""% e

s
Dt ot




Case 1:14-cv-00243-LG-JMR Document 1-2 Filed 06/12/14 Page 2 of 102

Case: 24CH1:14-cv-01212 Document #: 2 ' Filed: 05/16/2014 Page 2 of 85

TABLE OF CONTENTS
Papge
INTRODUCTION ...cccpuvenpprrneernnne ot B SR e e e 1414 4 e e Are Ao n e g e Eneat g ery o pensiren ]
PARTIES ....iicaiifraicnninminns Fenessiadelnenisensi et e ek e e it vt e e e a st epsgnreepaeragy O
JIJR_ISDICTION AND VENUE criieirenesns st e R ey e e R e e T Ty e 9
FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS R T TN Y P ER T P TS I P Y PYCT PP PP PO PPPTPEY PRSI PP Y - Prs o . S S L S PPE T TP 9
I EXPERIAN HAS FAILED TO IMPLEMENT REASONABLE PROCEDURES TO
ENSURE THE MAXIMUM POSSIBLE ACCURACY OF CONSUMER. CREDIT _
REPORTS IN VIOLATION OF THE FAIR CREDIT REPORTING ACT. vvvcvovoresreiiriiinnn 9
A. Experian Fails to Take Reasonable Steps to Improve the Accuracy of
Consumer RBPOITS ................................................... ..;-..'..'.;:..'..'....\.....,,,;,,,.;..;‘;\,;:‘;_:,:; ....... 11
1. Experian’s procedures permit and do not prevent “mixed files.”. .13
2. Experian pemuts inaccurate public record information to be mcludcd
in consumers” credif FEPOTIS. .......cveiciimiee ervivionsiotoesaiafiasidinibenenibineandonsessasnen 19
3. Experian does not prevent maccurate data from re-appearing on
consumers’ credit reports after deletion or correcton. ..........couvveecenssiin i 22
} 4. Experian fails to ensure that OFAC alerts are accurate ........................ verieneee 22
| 5. Experian fails to ensure that accounts exhngushcd in bankruptcy are
1epOTted ACCUTALELY. vivvivririereiinierirrsrnenssintevosicr s mnriniins i Cirereiyieiigrredienieiiis 24
! B. Experian Fails to Address Errors that Come to 1ts Attcntmn..,.......................,..,...,,., 26
‘ C. Experian Does Not Identify, Address, or Prevent Errors in Data from
‘ Unreliable Sources. .o eervecvseesesersenes rprussenrprepents fa e ars e ed e de v R b e bes Crearratas 28
| D. Experian’s Representahons that it Provides Accurate Credit Reports and its
;, Failure to Employ Reasonable Procedures to Ensure the Maximum Possible
| Accuracy of Credit Reports are Also Unfair and Deceptive Practices. ........cvpverrsien 32
| 1 EXPERIAN DOES NOT CONDUCT REASONABLE REINVESTIGATIONS
OF CONSUMER DISPUTES. ....ccccovieirenrecrerssssensie s ORI K
A Experian Does Not Itself Reinvesti gate Consumer Disputes. ......cocooveen, K
B. Experian Creates Impermissible Obstacles to Reinvestigating Disputes iateeeiie 39

C. Experian’s Staffing and Compensation Makes it Difficult for Consumers to
Initiate Disputes and Impossible for Employees to Adequately Record and

INVESHEALE THEIM. .ccovesiiurmrernrsererreorsasstessssininenian earssenses FesiaviTe it serTres NRCTERRATOI" §
D. Experian’s Reliance on Furmshers to Conduct an Invcstlganon is
Unreasonable.........eveererviinnns P TR D B B TP A SRR P PN 43
E, Experian Refuses to Investigate Legitimate Consumer DiSputes. ......cooovvovrrerenen. ... 48
F. Experian Does Not Provide Consumers with the Same Information it Gives
Creditors, Undermining Consumers” Ability fo Dispute Inaccuracies. .......oo...on.e.r, 49
G. Experian’s Failure to Reinvestigate Consumer Disputes is Also Unfair and
DeCeptive, wiviiusmmmsiosomsivivinssiasssmnesnans TPV R SRR |
i




]

Case 1:14-cv-00243-LG-JMR Document 1-2 Filed 06/12/14 Page 3 of 102

Case: 24CH1:14-cv-01212 Document #: 2~ Filed: 05/16/2014  Page 3 of 85

1r. EXPERIAN FAILS TO PROVIDE ALL RELEVANT INFORMATION
REGARDING CONSUMER DISPUTES TO THE FURNISHER OF THE

INFORMATION. ..o rtnsimisisereiton P, i e ceoiensines S0
IV. EXPERIAN FAILS TO EXCLUDE NEGATIVE OBSOLETE ACCOUNTS
APPEARING ON CONSUMERS’ CREDIT REPORTS. ...cccorrmirrmsssivistisivisie: 53 g
¥, EXPERIAN FAILS TO PREVENT INFORMATION THAT WAS DELETED
OR CORRECTED FROM BEING REINSERTED ON CONSUMER CREDIT |
REPORTS. oot srerses ettt sicigion: 59 i
VI  EXPERIAN DOES NOT PROVIDE CONSUMERS WITH THEIR FULL |

CREDIT FILES. ..o s crrcsssssmissnesesispss st siomstmsmsissssssiensssin 5T
VI, EXPERIAN DECEPTIVELY MARKETS CREDIT MONITORING :
; SERVICES AND CREDIT SCORES. ..voerrvserrresssmsntrssmimssissmestcsisssnisisse 60 |
‘ VI EXPERIAN ACTED WILLFULLY IN FAILING TO COMPLY WITH ITS
‘ STATUTORY DUTIES. ..o coooeeeoeeeesossssrsesotrsesetmssiissosos oo riiionis 67
81 |

REQUEST FOR RELIEF ........ccviicisisninsres ittt fofun b sssbonssaad ssaests s i st aiaiins o

i




Case 1:14-cv-00243-LG-JMR Document 1-2 Filed 06/12/14 Page 4 of 102

Case: 24CH1:14-cv-01212 Document#: 2 Filed: 05/16/2014 Page 4 of 85 -

COMES NOW, the State of Mississippi, by the Honorable Jim Hood, Attormey General
of the State of Mississippi, and files this Complaint against Defendant Experian
Information Solutions, Inc. (“Experan”) for injunctive relief, statutory and punitive
damages, civil penalties, restitution, rescission, disgorgement, and costs and attorneys’
fees pursuant to the Mississippi Consumer Protection Act, the Fair Credit Reporting Act,
and the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act. In support
thereof, the State would show unto the Court as follows:
INTRODUCTION
1. Experian, known as a pational credif reporting agency’ (“NCRA” or “credit
burean”), gathers, produces, and discloses credit reports” on virtually every
Mississippi consumer, These credit reports include, among other important
details, the credit cxtended to consumers, their history of payments, defaults, or
bankruptcy, and judgments or liens entered against them, and are used to
determine whether and on what terms a consumer will be offered credit cards,
stadent, car, and small business loans, mortgages, rentzl housing, and insurance.
Prospective employers may check the credit reports of applicants to determine
whether to hire them. Unpaid cicbt and delinquencies can prevent members of the
military or defense contractors from obtaining security clearances or jeopardize
existing clearances; credit reports from the NCRAs demonstrate their current

financial status and credit history. There are few documents more important to

' Expenan is one of the “big three” national credit reporting agencies, along with
Equifax and TransUnion.

2 Credit reports as used herein refers both to credit reports provided to consumers,
sometimes referred to as consumer disclosures, and consumer credit reports provided to

creditors.
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students, homeowners, tenants, job candidates, or service-members than their
credit reports.

2. Congress has recognized the “vital role” and “grave responsibilities” of credit
reporting agencies and the importance of “fair and accurate” credit reporting. 15
U.S.C: § 1681a{1). Because of this, the federal Fair Credit Reporting Act
(“FCRA”) imposes a rigorous set of duties on credit reporting agencies to “follow
reasonable procedures to assure maximum possible accuracy” of consumer credit
information and to allow consumers to check and to dispute any errors. 15 U.S.C.
§§ 1681e(b), 1681i(a). The law also requires credit reporting agencies to both
reinvestigate consumers’ disputes and to share “all relevant information” sent by
consumers with the creditors and debt collectors that furnished the disputed
information (“furnishers”) so that errors can be fixed. 15 U.S.C. § 1681i(a). In
addition, the Mississippi Consumer Protection Act, Miss. Code Ano. §§ 75-24-
5(1), 75-24-5(2) (“MCPA”), and the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and
Consumer Protection Act, 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)(B) (*Dodd Frank Act”) apply
to bar credit reporting agencies from engaging in unfair and deceptive practices.

3. Over the last year, pursuant to its authority under the MCPA, the Mississippi
Attorney General’s Office has obtained and reviewed documents from Experian,
its trade association, furnishers that report information to Experian, and the
vendor used by Experian to obtain public record information. The Attorney
General’s Office reviewed dozens of lawsuits against Experian and the testimony
provided in those cases, interviewed former employees, and reviewed hundreds of

complaints from Mississippi consumers. Among them, for example, is a

2
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Lieutenant Colonel in the Army National Guard, who has spent hundreds of hours
clearing up errors in his credit report, which routinely is merged with members of
his family. The Lieutenant Colonel also has assisted numerous soldiers whose
secutity clearances were threatened due to errors on their credit reports, including
one childless soldier whose credit report showed he was delinquent on his chlild

support payments.

Experian refuses to take reasonable steps to ensure the accuracy of its consumer

credit reports, as the law requires. While no data systems are perfect, Experian

fails to take basic steps — certainly inherent in the obligation of “maximum
possible accuracy” — to eliminate known, common, and reasonably remediable
sources of error, Experian uses an insufficiently rigorous formula to pull together

the credit history belonging to a particular consumer, knowing that it produces

significant numbers of false matches. _

| H
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Moreover, Experian has failed to meaningfully engage the safety valve required
by law to identify and address mistakes that are inevitable with even the strictest
procedures — the consumer dispute process. Instead of conducting reasonable

reinvestigations of consumer complaints, Experian merely reviews consumer

disputes to assign a code to classify the complaints (e.g., “not his/hers” or
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“account closed™) and forwards those codes to the creditors that reported the
information. Despite its independent obligation under the FCRA, Experian
conducts no investigation and, did not, _,;even forward the
explanations and evidence submitted by consumers to creditors for them to
review', so that furnishers often lacked important informatit)‘n necessary to fully
investigate consumer disputes. Experian adopts whatever “finding” the creditor
reports back, even when contradicted by information and documentation provided
by consumers.>

In short, Bxperian has, over more than two decades, engaged in an unyielding
pattemn and practic.:e of violating federal and state law. Experian’s failure to adopt
reasonabie procedures to assure maximum possible accuracy and fajlure to
conduct reasonable reinvestigations has caused significent inaccuracies in the
credit reparts of Mississippi consumers. Experian has mixed up the identities of
consumers. It has reported as late or still owing accounts that were paid on time
or settled in full, as well as accounts that were aged and should no longer appear
on the credit report or accounts that were extinguished in bankruptey. Ithas
disclosed liens and judgments, but then failed to update its records when those

liens or judgments were removed or resolved.

Frustrated Mississippi consumers sent almost -to Experian
between March 1, 2010, and April 18, 2013. They have gathered and provided
cancelled checks, account statements, court documents, and birth certificates, and

talked on the telephone with call center representatives who often are unwilling or

3 Disputes related to " often are handled [N

] Expetian.

4
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unable to help them. In the event they are able to get an error corrected, they find

that the mistake may reappear months or years later.. || N NN RRENEN

Experian has paid tens of

millions of dollars in judgments and settlernents to consumers in Mississippi and
. across the country over a dozen years, but has refused to take the steps necessary

to conform its conduet to the law. |

8. Mississippi consumers described to the Attorney General’s Office serious
financial harms that resulted from errors in their credit reports: they were denied
credit or paid higher interest rates; they could not open bank accounts, rent
apartments, finance their homes, or buy cars; they lost opportunities for
employment; and jeopardized their security clearances. They expressed enormous
anxiety and anger at the impact on their reputations from false derogatory
information, often maintained over months or years and many sleepless nights.
They des.cribed spending months and years trying to resolve crrors themselves.
Many still have not obtained relief and others were helped only after they
complained to regulators. Finally, many of these consumers — those
knowledgeable and determined encugh to reach out to law enforcement —
expressed their concem for consumers who did not know or could not protect
their rights.

9. The experiences of Mississippi consumers are consistent with, and confirmed by,
the experiences of consumers nationally. The Federal Trade Commission

(“FFC”) recently reported that nearly 20% of consumers in a recent study —
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which, extrapolated, would amount to 40 million individuals — bad confirmed
crrors in their credit reports from at least one of the NCRAs; for 13% of
consumers, the error was significant enough to change their credit score.* Thirty
percent of the time, when consumers disputed an item with all three NCRAs, the
agencies reached different resolutions.®

10. A 2012 study by the Columbus Dispatch found that 6% of nearly 21,500
consumers who complained to the FTC during a 30-month period beginning in
2009 and nearly 8% of 1,842 who complained to state attoreys general in 2009
and 2010 indicated that their files included someone else’s information; nearly
one-third of those consurners were unable to get the credit bureau to correct the
error.® Almost 200 consumers said their reports showed them as deceased, and at

least one of those consumers was told by the NCRA that it had investigated and

verified the report of his death.’

* FTC, Report to Congress Under Section 319 of the Fair and Accurate Credit
Transactions Act of 2003, at v (Dec. 2012), available at
ittp://www. fic gov/sites/defanlt/files/documents/teports/section-319-fair-and-accurate-
credit-transactions-act-2003-fifth-interim federal-trade-
commission/13021 1 fagtareport.pdf, The study only assessed the change in the credit
score if the NCRA made the change requested by the consumer. Because the 13% does
not include consumers for whom the NCRAs did not change the claimed errors, the
actual number of consumers who have a lower eredit score because of errors in their
credit report likely is higher. Indeed, the study found that of the 21% of study
participants who identified at least one potentially material error, the dispute process
resulted in no change, and for another 41%, errors were only partially remedied.

* Id. at 54.

¢ Mike Wagner and Jill Riepenhoff, Credit Scars: Mixed and Marred, Columbus
Dispatch, May 7, 2012, available at
http:/fwww.dispatch.com/content/stories/local/2012/05/07/mixed-and-marred.himi,

- " Mike Wagner and Jill Riepenhoff, Credi! Scars: Credit-Reporting Agencies’
Failure to Address Damaging Errors Plaguing Thousands of Americans Prompts Call for
6
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11.

12

Experian’s business model not only tolerates, but rewards errors. _

I, - company owned in part by Experian, reccives fees JiJll

. Y ° <t 10 carns rovere by

deceptively selling credit monitoring services and educational credit scores to
consumers who cannot trust the accuracy of its credit reports. In 2013, Mississippi
~ consumers paid Experian more than- for credit monitoring products

alone.’

Most courts have held that private Litigants cannot obtain injunctive relief under
the FECRA against Experian, Private settlements and judgments against the
company have failed to incentivize compliance with the law. As consumer
groups have noted, the power of the marketplace cannot operate to force Experian
to correct the pattern or ﬁrevalence of errors in its credit reports:

It is essential to keep in mind that the paying clients of the
credit reporting industry are not consumers, but the
creditors who furnish or use the information contained in
the CRAs*'? databases. . . . Thus, unlike almost all other
business relationships, consumers who are unhappy with
the actions of a CRA cannot vote with their feet — they
cannot remove the information or take their business
elsewhere, Creditors, in contrast, do have the ability to
switch between CRAs if they wish. And vigerous
investigation of consumer disputes is likely to drive
creditors aweay. Traditional competitive market forces
therefore provide little incentive for CRAs to incur the

Swift Action, Columbus Dispatch, May 6, 2012, available at
http://www.dispatch.com//content/stories/local/2012/05/06/credit-scars. html,

e NCRA and CRAs are used interchangeably to refer to the national credit
reporting agencies.

7
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costs to institute new procedures that ¢nsure information is
accurate or to undertake investigations to correct errors,
since these activities primarily benefit consurmers. Cnly the
FCRA itself compels such behavior."!

13.  In an effort to redress, deter, and punish Experian’s widespread violations of the
law, the Attorney General seeks injunctive relief and also requests that Experian
be ordered to pay restitution, civil penalties, disgorgement, and statutory and
punitive damages appropriate to its long and knowing history of violating federal
and state law.

PARTIES

14.  Plaintiff, the State of Mississippi, acting through its Attomey General Jim Hood,
brings this action in the public interest pursuant to the Attorney General’s
statutory and parens patriae authority to enforce the MCPA, the FCRA, and the
Dodd-Frank Act.

15.  Defendant Experian Information Solutions, Inc. is & “consumer reporting agency,”
(CRA) as defined in the Fair Credit Reporting Act, 150U.8.C. § 1681(f), and is
regularly engaged in the business of assembling, evaluating, and disseminating
information conceming consumers to furnish consumer reports to consumers and
third parties. Experian falls within the subset of CRAs known as a “nationwide
consumer reporting agency,” defined as a CRA that “regnlarly engages in
assembling, evaluating, and maintaining credit account and public record

information, for the purpose of furnishing consumer reports to third parties

" Credit Ré‘borrs: Consumers' Ability to Dispute and Change Inaccurate Information:
Hearing Before the H. Comm. on Fin. Servs., 110th Cong. 3 (2007) (statement of Chi Chi
Wa, Nat'l Consumer Law Cir.}. “
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16.

17.

bearing on a consumer’s credit worthiness, credit standing, or credit capacity.” 15
U.S.C. § 1681a(p). Experian’s North American headquarters are located in Costa
Mesa, California, and Experian is authorized to do business within Mississippi.
Experian is, by far, the largest of the three national credit reporting agencies, with
global revenue of $4.713 billion in the year ending March 2013, At all relevant
times, Experian has been doing business, and continues to do business, regularly
in the State of Mississippi, including by compiling and disclosing the credit

reports of Mississippi consumers and by selling credit products and services to

Mississippi consumers.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE
Jurisdiction and venue are proper under Miss. Code Ann. §§ 75-24-9, 75-24-19,
and 11-5-1, as well asunder 15 U.5.C. § 1681s(c); 12 U.S.C. §§ 5564(f) and
5565. Experian is subject to personal jurisdiction under Miss. Code Ann. § 13-3-
57 because at all relevant times Experian did business in Mississippi.

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS

EXPERIAN HAS FAILED TO IMPLEMENT REASONABLE
PROCEDURES TO ENSURE THE MAXIMUM POSSIBLE ACCURACY
OF CONSUMER CREDIT REPORTS IN VIOLATION OF THE FAIR

CREDIT REPORTING ACT.

The FCRA demands that “Jw]henever a consamer reporting agency prepares a
consumer report it shall follow reasonable procedures to assure maximum
possible accuracy of the information concerning the individual about whom the

report relates.” 15 U.S.C. § 1681e(b). “Maximum possible accuracy” requires
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meore than technical or Literal accuracy. A consumer repoert is inaccurate not just
for an error, but also ifit is potentially misleading or incomplete."

18.  Bxperian has failed to employ reasonable procedures to ensure the accuracy ofits
credit reports, and, as a result, has caused and permitted errors in the credit reports

of Mississippi consumers. Mississippi consumers have complained about these

errors in and

lawsuits against Experian. The Attorney General’s Office also has confirmed

likely errors in its review of “ These
consumer complaints, lawsuits, and I ccsult from and reflect systemic
problems in (1) miﬁng the records of Mississippi consumers, (2) failing to update

public record information in a timely manner, (3) allowing inaccurate or aged

information to reappear on their credit reports, (4) allowing inaccurate
information to reappear on credit repotts after the information had been removed,
and (5) failing to accuratety report tradelines and debts that were extinguished in
bankruptey, and (6) accepting and reporting inaccurate or incomplete information

from furnishers, among other exrors.

19,

Bl Upon information and belief, even this JE-ate of disputes fails to

2 Sepulvado v, CSC Credit Servs., Inc., 158 F.3d 890, 895 (5th Cir. 1998); Pinner
v, Schmidt, 805 F.2d 1258, 1262 (5th Cir. 1986).

10
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21.

22,

Page 14 of 85

reflect the number of consumers affected by errors in their credit reports who

cither do not detect them or do not file disputes.-

The FTC provides guidance on what constitutes reasonabie procedures to ensure

maximum possible accuracy:

If the CRA’s review of its procedures reveals, or the CRA
should reasonably be aware of, steps it can take to improve
the accuracy of its reports at a reasonable cost, it must take
any such step. It should correct inaccuracies that come to
its attention. A CRA must also adopt reasonable
procedures to eliminate systematic errors that it knows
about or should reasonably be aware of| resulting from
procedures followed by its sources of information, For
example, if a particular credit grantor has often furnished
erroneous consumer information, the CRA must require the
creditor to revise its procedures to correct whatever
problems cause the errors or stop reporting information
from that creditor.™

Further, if the NCRA:

A.

learns or should reasonably be aware of errors in its reports
that may indicate systemic problems (by virtue of
information from consumers, report users, from periodic
review of'its reporting system or otherwise), it must review
its procedures for assuring accuracy and take any necessary
steps to avoid future problems.™

Experian Fails to Take Reasonable Steps to Improve the Accuracy of

Consumer Reports.

Upon information and belief, despite its enormous data, resources, and analytic

capacity, Experian does not employ an internal system or review mechanism

2 FTC, Report — Forty Years of Experience with the Fair Credit Reporting Act:
An FTC Staff Report with Summary of Interpretations 2011 at 67 (hereinafter “Forty
Years of Experience); see also hitp://www.gpo.gov/fdsys/pke/CER-20] ] -title16-
voll/pdf/CFR-2011-title]16-voli-part600-app-id1 024.pdf.

" 1d at 68.

11
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sufficient to maintain the accuracy of consumers® credit histories, |HiETTGGGN

Indeed, the CFPB recently found:

While the NCRAs’ data screens do find errors by
identifying anomalies and inconsistencies, these checks
rely on underlying furnisher data to be valid. The NCRAs
do not conduct independent checks or audits to determine if
the data is accurate, such as contacting a consumer to ask if
she is properly associated with an account or if the balance
reported on an aceount is true, or checking the record-
keeping practices of a furnisher. The NCRAs generally rely
on furnishers to report information on consumers that is

) complete and accurate.'®

\

|

|

23.  Instead of conducting its own review, Experian claims that its records are [

| Efﬂ effect, Experian shifts its burden to employ
reasonable procedures to ensure the maximum possible accuracy of credit reports

to consumers, relying on them to obtain, understand, and dispute their credit

reports. This is a poor “audit” mechanism by any measure, but even more so here

IS CFPB, Key Dimensions and Processes in the U.S. Credit Reporting System.: A
review of how the nation’s largest credit bureaus manage consumer data at 19, (Dec.
2012), available at.h_t\_tp://ﬁlcs._g:onsumerﬁnance. gov/f201212 cfpb_credit-reporting-
white-paper.pdf (hereinafier “Key Dimensions™.

12




24,

25.
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given the limitations Experian imposes on consumers’ access to their credit
reports and ability to dispute information (see, Section VI} and its unwillingness
to address errors reported by consumers (see, Section I(B)).

1. Experian’s procedures permit and do not prevent “mixed
files.”.

Upon this shaky foundation, Experian adas more teetering blocks. Upon
information and belief, Experian knows that its procedures to create consur-ner
credit reports are over-inclusive and fail to reliably match credit information with
the correct consumer, rcsulﬁng'm credit reports that merge the credit histories of
distinct consumers. These errors are so frequent that they have been given a name
—“mixed files.”

Experian relies on NI o

aggregate all of its information associated with a particular consumer. A - 18

meant to be unique to a consumer, but often consumers am-

While Experian did not, in response to the Attorney General's subpoenas, provide
the algorithm it applies to associate data with a specific consumer, litigation and
other public information indicate that Experian relies on partial matches in
consumer identifying information to determine whether data records belong 1o the
same person. Thus, in deciding whether & mortgage in the name of John Smith
belongs with a tix lien owed by J. Smith, a student loan paid off by John C.

Smith, and a car repossessed from John Smith, Ir., Experian looks [

N -1 other more specific information — such as

13




Case 1:14-cv-00243-LG-JMR Document 1-2 Filed 06/12/14 Page 17 of 102

. Case: 24CH1:14-cv-01212 Dogument#: 2 Filed: 05/16/2014 Page 17 of 85

only to the extent it has this infmyation. Even when it has more specific
information, Exp.cn'an _ Presumably, the
algorithm assigns weight to each of these factors in assessing a match. |

26,  The screen used by Experian is not rigorous enough to prevent false matches and
yields sa expected — and unacceptable —number of errors. Upon information and
belief, Experian knows that its matching criteria produce false positives — that
ﬁm is a reasonable possibility that different consumers will be merged into a
-and, ultimately, a single credit report. e

27,

18 The matchmg cntcna used to create and merge I :so increases the number
miented files; resulting in incom: leté credit re ‘Orﬁt's.,,.zl?m“gmcated'ﬁle_s_ are

3

‘all of a consumer’s relevant account information with

indicated that it was not combinin

14
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28,

29,

30..

N o cxample, » creditor

This overly aggressive matching may lead to consumers being etroneously
“matched” with credit information belonging to other consumers with different
pames and addresses. Upon information and belief, these loose matching
procedures also contribute to the mixing of consumers’ files with identity thieves.
If an identity thief adopts some of a victim’s personal identifying information,
upon information and belief, Experian’s [ NNEMNNNN me-zes the victim’s
information with the identity thief’s information, even though many of the :
identifiers do not match."” :

Mixed files often arise because Experian provides credit reports to creditors

without requiring that they provide |

17 National Consumer Law Center, Report — Automated Injustice: How a
mechanized dispute system frustrates consumers seeking lo fix errors in their credit
reports at 9 (Jan 2009).
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can ask for the report for Kathy Herman, 123 Main Street, Jackson, M3 01234,

without providing |||  JJJENENEEEN: Upon information and belief,

Experian knows that this lack of detail can cause it to respond with the credit
information of more than one consumer that, in part, matches the identifying
information, Requiring creditors to provide _ or IR
Il +ould allow Experian to more reliably exclude credit information that
belongs to someonc else. -

31.

32, Reasonéble procedures to ensure maximum possible accuracy demand better
procedures to prevent mixed files. Requiring a more reliable match of the data
Experian has would be a reasonable step to ensure maximum possible accuracy of
credit reports and to reduce this known source of errors, especially given the

significant harm to consumers who are victims of mixed files. ]

Despite recognition of

16
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the importance of addressing mixed files and the high risk preseated by the

problem, upon information and belief, Experian has not fixed it.

33,  Every year, Experian receives a significant number of | and lawsuitg,

including lawsuits and — filed by Mississippi consumers, regarding
mixed files. |

34, For example, Consumer 1, a Lieutenant Colonel in the Army National Guard who
lives in Madison, Mississippi, has had his credit report repeatedly mixed with his
father and grandfather, who have the same first and last name, but different
suffixes. (They are “Sr.” and “Jr.;” he is the “II"). His prandfather’s credit card,
opened when Consumer 1 was a few years old, and his father’s mortgage both
appeared on his credit report. He disputed all of these mistakes through online
forms and by mail and telephone, but not once has a dispute initially been
resolved in his favor; in all, he has spent hundreds of hours trying to correct his
credit report. He has bought the various monitoring scrvices and credit report
products to try to stay on top of errors in his credit report because derogatory
credit information would jeopardize his Top Secret security clearance and has
stopped him from getting a loan before. He has helped many of the soldiers he
commands avoid losing their security clearances due to errors on their credit
reports, including one soldier who had no children but whose credit report showed
arrearages on child support.

35. Consumer 2 of Tupelo, Mississippi, also has been the victim of a file mix-up.
Apparently, someone with the same last name used to live at her address and that

person’s new address and at least one of her accounts appears on Consumer 27s

17
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36..

37.

credit report. She complained to Experian, but could not get the erroneous
information removed. Because of her mixed file, she received cotlection calls for
the other individual and has seen her own bills routed to the wrong address,
causing problems when she did not pay. thn she goes online to access her
credit report and must confirm her identity, she has to confirm the other person’s
new address or cannot access the systen.

The experience of these consumers is reinforced by the complaints of many other
Mississippi consumers and by consumers from across the country. The news
show 60 Minutes featurcd the story of & consumer, Judy Thomas, of Ohio, whose
file was mixed with Judith Xendall, of Utah. After 6 years, daily calls to the
NCRAs, and hundreds of letters (including letters from creditors confirming that
the debt was not hers), Ms. Thomas could not get the credit bureaus, including
Experian, to fix her report.” It took a year of litigation to resolve the error. In the
meantime, Ms. Thomas was prevented from co-signing student loans, obtaining
credit, or taking advantage of favorable interest rates to refinance her mortgage.
Upon information and belief, despite evidence of systemic problems in its
matching criteria, Experian continues as before, failing to employ reasonable
procedures to avoid mixed file errors and subjecting Mississippi consumers to

continued errors in their credit reports. Despite being on notice of this significant

source of error, the Mississippi Attorney General’s Office found no evidence [Jli

Y 60 Minutes: 40 Million Mistakes: Is your credit report accurate? (CBS

television broadcast Feb. 10, 2013}, available af
http://www.cbsnews.com/video/watch/?id=5014(748n.

18
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38. The FTC has suggested that the NCRAs may choose to accept, and impose on
consumers, these mixed file errors because creditors (its true customers) prefer to
see all potentially negativc credit information, even if there is doubt about the
match, rather than miss negative information that they would want to weigh in
credit or pricing decisions. “This preference could give the credit bureaus an
incentive to design algorithms that are tolerant of mixed files.™® The FCRA
prohibits precisely this trade-off.

2. Experian permits inaccurate public record information to be

included in consumers’ credit reports.

39, Accuracy of public tecord information, including information ebout bankzruptcy,
tax liens, and civil judgm(;,nts, is especially important as derogatory public record
information may have a greater effect on consumers’ credit profiles and credit
scores than other information on their credit reports.

40.  As of 2007, Experian processed approximately B consumer disputes
anmally related to public record information.”!

41.  Mississippi consumers have complained about inaccurate public record

information on their Experian credit reports. Consumer 3 was unable to get

20 FTC, Report to Congress Under Sections 318 and 319 of the Fair and

Accurate Credit Transactions Act of 2003 (Dec. 2004), available at
http://www ftc.gov/reports/under-section-318-319-fair-accurate-credit-transaction-act-

2003,

! Upon information and belief, the current number of disputes related to public
records information is significantly higher since the number of disputes likely does not
reflect JI acquisition ﬁ and the consumer disputes related to
information collection by

19
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| Experian to correct errors on her credit report until the Mississippi Attorney
General’s Office intervened on her behalf. An elderly woman who had been
! caring for her ailing husband suffering with a heart condition, Consumer 3 risked
1 losing her deposit and contract on her lease-to-own horme due to an error on her
Experian credit report; a second mortgage that was discharged in bankruptcy was
being reported as past due on her credit report. After Consumer 3 was threatened

with a lawsuit by her landlord if she did not close on her home, the Attorney

General’s Office contacted Experian and only then was the error removed from

her credit report.

42.  Experian contracts with — for retrieval of public record
information. AR |
- In ail, [ provides __public records to Experian

each year.

43,  Bxperian has little financial incentive to cnsure the collection and reporting of
public record information in a timely fashion or to investigate consumer disputes
regarding public record information. Experian pays - annually for
the collection of public records in Mississippi. Presumably, the more frequently
public records are updated, the more Experian pays for the service. Upon
information and belief, Experian requires - to collect Mississippi consumer

public records from Mississippi courthouses at certain intervals, often very

infrequently. |

20
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IR U icformation and
belicf, during NN (- crcdi rcport of

every consumer with a new or updated public record would be inaccurate.

44, Further, when a consumer disputes public record information, Expetian pays

J— .

B This

provides & disincentive for Experian to obtain the information needed to

investigate consumer disputes about public record information.

45. Purther Bxperinn fled toreive I

T —
belief, this failure to — to reflect bankruptcy filings,

dismissal or satisfaction of judgments or liens, and other public records

information orm causes Experian to maintain and disclose

credit reports that are outdated or incomplete.
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46,

47.

3. }T:xperian does not prevent inaccurate data from re-appearing
on consumers’ credit repqr__ts_ after deletion or corrgction‘..

Similarly, Expetian fails to comply with the FCRA’s directive to prevent the
reinsertion of deleted or corrected information, which is, by definition, inaccurate
or unverified. 15 U.S.C. § 1681i(a)(5) (when inaccurate information is “deleted
from a consumer’s file . . . the information may not be reinserted in the file by the
consumer reporting agency uniess the person who furnishes the information
cerlifies that the information is complete and accurate”). The law also requires
that the NCRAs notify consumers within five business days afler it has reinserted
information. 15 U.8.C. § 1681i(a)(5)(B)(ii). Accordingly, by permitting,
allowing, or failing to maintain reasonable procedures to prevent the reinsertion of
inaccurate infonnation deleted from a Mississippi consumer’s file and, upon
information and belief, by failing to obtain certifications of the accuracy of such
changes or notify consumers of the rcinsertions, Experian has violated gnd
continues to violate 15 U.S.C. § 1681i(a){5). Bxperian’s violation of the FCRA’s
reinsertion provisions, as described in Section V, also constitutes a failure of its
procedures to ensure maximum possible accuracy of credit reports,

4, _Ex_p_eri_an,fails to ensure _tt_x_:_it OFAC _a!f;lj_ts are»accmjate‘.

Experian offers to provide alerts on credit reports to inform creditors when

consumers’ names appear on the list of Specially Designated Nationals suspected

of terrorism or narcotics trafficking compiled and published by the Office of

Foreign Assets Centrol (“OFAC”). ﬂﬁs_sewicc—mm ]
IR «hich generated over N ccvenue in -

_ aims fo assist creditors in complying with their legal duty to ensure
22
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they do not provide financing to assist in these criminal activities. However, upon |
information and belief, and in light of the enormous harm to a consumer cut-off :
|
from credit as a result of having been mistakenly identified as appearing on the
OFAC list, Experian does not maintain adequate procedures to ensure that

consumers are not listed in error. Experian issues an OFAC alert_

48.  Experian has attempted to distance itself from any representation that its OFAC

alerts are well-tested or accurate. [N

Experian again shifts its burden to ensure accurate information, this time o the

purchaser of the information, rcquiring its customer to affirm that any -

_ However, Experian cannot contract out of its legal

obligation to ensure the accuracy of information included in its credit reports.
Especialy given the damage that falsely.idenﬁfying a consumer as being on a
terrorism watch-list can canse, Experian has an obligation to have reasonable
procedures to ensure maximum possible accuracy of this fuformation, not to |

disclaim it.

23
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50,

51.

5. Experian fails to ensure that accounts extinpuished in

bankruptey are reported accurately.

Another type of inaccuracy in Experian credit reports relates to tradelines or
collection accounts that were discharged in bankruptcy that are reported on credit

reports as due or delinquent instead of resolved through bankruptey. Upon

information and belicf, Experian has the capability to | N i RN

24
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f—t’o ascertain if they were resolved in bankruptcy, but fails to do so

adequately and on a routine basis. Further, upon information and belief, Experian

may report the tradeline or collection in a non-bankruptcy status I

IR Upon information

and belief, Experian does not require furnishers to provide *

A
addition, once Experian reccives NN

52.  Consumer 4 of Long Beach, MS filed for baokruptcy in 2010, Once the process
was completed, he discovered that accounts covered by the bMptcy continued
to appear as active delinquencies on his credit report. He repeatedly called
Experian to try to resolve the errors, and often found it difficult to reach an agent,
having to answer a maze of questions and provide a credit report number in order
to get through. After four years, he gave up. Though he says that he now pays all
of his bills on fime, he is unable to get any loans or credit cards,

53,  Experian’s failure to ensure that tradelines and collection accounts are accurately

reported as discharged in bankmuptcy constitutes a failure of ifs procedures to
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ensure maximum possible accuracy of credit reports. Experian knows that

|

i tradelines and collection acpouﬁfs discharged in bankruptcy often are reported

‘ incorrectly, not only from the volume of consumer disputes about such
inaccuracies. Experian was on notice of these inaccuracies as of at least 2008,
when Experian, as part of a settlement, agreed to injunctive relief on how it
reports accounts discharged in bankruptcy.

S4,  This conduct is also unfair. Haviag tradelines or collection accounts discharged
in bankruptcy appear as active accounts on consumer credit reports causes or is
likely to cause substantial injury to consumers in their efforts to obtain
employment or credit, as well as cansing emotional harm and embarrassment,
among other injuries, which are not reasonably avoidable by Mississippi
COnSuUmMers.

B. Experian Fails to Address Exroxs that Come to its Attention.

55,  To ensure maximum possible accuracy (and, separately, to comply with the
FCRA'’s command that credit reporting agencies reinvestigate consumer disputes,
see Section II), the credit bureaus must maintain a reasonable process for
identifying and remediating errors. This process should allow Experian to address
mistakes in consumers' credit reports. As laid out in Section II, Expérian fails,
reliably, to do so. Instead of conducting its own investigation, Experian relies
entirely upon often cursory reviews by data fumnishers, acting, until recently,
without the benefit of consumers® explanation and evidence. Experian fails even
to review the furnishers’ conclusions, adopting whatever responses the furnisher

provides, even when contrary to unrebutted or irrefutable proof of errors. This
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failure to address errors itself constitutes a separate failure to follow reasonable
procedures to ensure maximum possible accuracy.

56. BExperian, for example, has failed to remedy its errors in reporting consumers as
deceased -- even when the allegedly deceased consumer reaches out to dispute the
error.  As one lawsuit recently filed in the Central District of California by a
consumer deemed deceased by Experian noted, even when other data on the
consumer’s report indicates the person is not dead, inchuding instances when the
purportediy dead consumer communicates directly with the company, Experian
has no procedures to conduct further inquiry to address the error before and until

it is disputed by the consumer.”®

57.  Consumer 5 and his wife, of Biloxi, Mississippi, went to their local bank to take
out aloan to purchase a pickup track. When the bankrchecked his credit, the
credit report indicated that he was deceased. At first, Consumer 5 and his wife
thought it was funny, but months later, after re;;eated aftempts to correct this error !
with Experian, their situation had lost its humor. He had been confused with his |
father, whose middle name was Consumer’s 5 first name and who had died ten
years before. Because Consumer 5 could not get Experian to recognize the error,
he had to rely for the truck loan on his wife’s credit, which was not as good as his
and which resulted in their paying a higher interest rate. [t was not until after he
contacted the FTC, almost a year later, that Consumer 5 was able to persuade

Experian that he was not dead.

5 Complaint, Claydon v. Experian, No. 8:14-cv-00480 (C.D. Cal. Mar, 31, 2014).
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The Attorney General’s investigation revealed other systemic failures to ensure

the accuracy of consumer credit reports. For example, employees who identified

errors had no ability to fix them absent an actionable consumer dispute (and, as

discussed later, verification by the fumi',s:hcr_.

I Former call center employees handling consumer disputes interviewed by

the Attorncy General’s Office also described a press for speed that created an

" environment ripe for data entry errors and failures to accurately reflect

consumers’ disputes. Though Experian was responsible for and on notice of these
issues, it has not taken the steps necessary to address them.

C. Experian Does Not Identify, Address, or Prevent Errors in Data from j
Unreliable Sources. '

Upon information and belief, Experian does not routinely examine fumisher
dispute or error pattems and does not systematically identify, remediate, or

exclude data from fumnishers that have high consumer dispute rates or other types

of problems that frequently result in consumer disputes. According to documents

produced o the Attomey General’s Office, | NN
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_1s particularly pfoblematic with unreliable sources, such as

debt collectors.

In 2012, the Federal Trade Commission sued a large debt collection agency, Asset

Acceptance (since acquired by the Encore Capital Group), for failing to properly

investigate consumer disputes and reporting to the NCRAs information it had

reason o suspect was inaccurate.® TransUnion had sued Asset Acceptance the :
previous year for breach of contract for reporting information on 5.7 millien

consumer accounts that was neither accurate nor complete.”” Upon information

and belief, before —and even after — that action, Experian continued to include

data from Asset Acceptance in its credit roports. Reasonable procedures to ensure

maximum possible accuracy certainly would have required Experian to

investigate or address obvious errors from this data source, and to Jeok for similar

problems with other furnishers.

Debt collectors like Asset Acceptance Corporation are known to be especially
problematic fornishers of data. According to the Consumer Financial Protection
Bureau (“CFPB”), nearly 40% of consumer disputes relate to items provided by

debt collectors even though debt collectors only supply about 13% of the accounts

reported to the NCRAs. ™ . |

26 United States v. Asset Acceptance, LLC, No. 8:12-CV-182-T-27EAJ (M.D. Fla.

Jan.30, 2012).

2011).

2 Tyanstnion v. Asset Acceptance, LLC, No., 20110007199 (IlL. Cir. Ct. July 12,

*% CFPB, Key Dimensions, supra, at 14.
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This is true even

though Experian is aware of specific problems that arise when debt is sold or
transferred to collection aéencies, which may cause the account to appear twice
on a consumer’s credit report (e.g., first as a Macy’s branded account and then as
an Asset Acceptance account when the account is i)urcbased by Asset Acceptance
‘or assigned to it for collection). This misteadingly makes it appear that the
consumer has an additional delinquency and more outstanding debt than is
actually the case. Further, as laid out in Section V, debt collectors often fuil to
report or misreport the date on which consumers’ accounts originally became
delinquent, using tbe date the debt collector acquired the account rather than the
date of the last payment, thus re-aging the account. This results in credit items
remaining on consumers’ reports even though it has been more than 7 years and
180 days from the date on which the debt was charged off or placed for collection,
in violation of the FCRA. 15 U.S.C. § 1681c(a) (providing that “no consumer
reporting agency may make any consumer report containing . . . [aJccounts placed

for collection or charged to profit and loss which antedate the report by more than

saven years™).

63, N
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R

D. Experian’s Representations that it Provides Accurate Credit Reports
and its Failure to Employ Reasonable Procedures (o Ensare the
Maximum Possible Aceuracy of Credit Reports are Also Unfair and

Deceptive Practices.

66, On its website, Experian misleads and deceives consumers into believing that the
credit reports it provides are accurate. One such represcnfaﬁon includes:
“Consumers should expect that the information reported about them is an accurate
reflection of how they have handled their credit obligations over time.”%

Experian goes on to {ell consumers that crrors on credit reports are “rare,” which,

based on the volume of disputes and corrections resulting from those disputes, is a

deceptive statement.®® Consumers are told that Experian is “in pursuit of ‘error-

free® data” and that it uses the “highest quality of information.” These statements

mislead consumers about Experian’s practices, its knowledge of patterns and

sources of errors in its data, its lack of efforts to correct errors, and the accuracy ;

29 Rxperian, http://www.experi an.com/ourcommitment/our-responsibility. htmi
{last visited May 9, 2014).
Y.
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of information in Experian’s credit reports.’! Consumers are not informed about
the existence or frequency of mixed files, inaccurate or outdated public record
information or information reported by collection agencies or other furnishers,
erroneous OFAC alerts, re-aged accounts, and other systemic failures of accuracy
that may affect their credit reports. Those omissions, i)arﬁcularly in light of
Experian’s affirmative assurances, are deceptive and create a false and misleading
impression of the accuracy of credit reports provided by Experian. Accordingly,
these representations and omissions mislead or are likely to reasonably mislead
consumers about material characteristics of credit reports provided by Experian
and sbout Experian’s commitment and capacity to provide accurate credit reports.

67.  Additionally, Experian’s failure to maintain reasonable procedures to ensure the
maximum possible accuracy of consumer credit reports not only violates the
FCRA, but also is unfair. The injury inaccurate credit reports are likely to cause
is substantial, from loss of employment opportunities, to being declined for or
offered unfavorable terms for credit, to the emotional harm and embarrassment
suffered by consumers, among other things. Consumers do not have the ability to
avoid Experian’s inaccurate credit reporting, a_nd, as explained in Section II, often
cannot correct it, nor can they reasonably avoid the injuries caused by an
inaccurate credit report. In fact, consumers and creditors, both, are injured by
inaccurate credit reports, which prevent credit from being made available at all or
on texms appropriate to consumers” actual risk.

1. EXPERIAN DOES NOT CONDUCT REASONABLE
REINVESTIGATIONS OF CONSUMER DISPUTES.

\
3! Id ‘
\
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68;

69,

70,

Even a reasonably accurate credit reporting system (which this is not) inevitably
will yield errors. Apart from (and as part of) its obligation to employ reasonable
procedures to ensure maximum possible accuracy, Experian has a duty under the
FCRA to conduct a reasonable investigétion of consumer disputes and to remedy
inaccuracies uncovered in that process. 15 U.S.C. § 1681i(a) (requiring that “if
the completeness or accuracy of any item of information conteined in a
consumer’s file at a consumer reporting agency is disputed by the consumer and
the consumer notifies the agency . . . of such dispute, the agency shall, free of
charge, conduct a reasonable reinvestigation to determine whether the disputed
information is jnaccurate and record the current status of the disputed information,
or delete the item from the file . . .").** In conducting that investigation, the
NCRA “shall review and consider all relevant information submitted by the
consumer.” 15 U.S.C. § 1681i(a)(4).

Experian fails to conduct any - let alone a reasonable — reinvestigation of
consumer disputes regarding their credit history or accounts. Nor does it
“consider” any credit information provided by consumers.

As a result, Experian has allowed information that is unverified, incorrect, or
misleading, and that could have been detected through a reasonable investigation,

to ﬁppear on the credit reports of Mississippi consumers.

32 The requirement that an investigation be reasonable was inserted in the 2003

amendments to the Fair Credit Reporting Act, although it had been established in cases
for many years before 2003.
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71

72

73,

A, Experian Does Not Itself Reinvestigate Consumer Disputes.

To “reinvestigate™ a consumer dispute, Experian employees prepare an
Automated Credit Dispute Verification (“ACDV”) or Credit Dispute Verification
(“CDV™) on which they reduce consumers’ disputes and evidence to a two or
three digit code chosen from alist (e.g., “not hisfhers” or “disputes amount”) and,
_{those changes are discussed in Section III), sent énly that form
to the furnishers of consumers’ information through an automated processing

system called “e-OSCAR” (Online Solution for Complete and Accurate

Reporting). As a matter of policy, NN, Experian did not transmit

any documents that wore provided by consumers.”

~ Moreover, interviews conducted with former Experian
employees confirm that Experian’s investigation involves nothing more than
completing and sending ACDVs and that Experian provides no direction to
employees to conduct any investigation of their own.

Experian’s only “consideration” of consumers’ disputes is to reduce the dispute to
a code and submit them to furnishers. Experian makes no independent judgment
about whether consumers' assertions of errors or its own data is accurate. Upon
information and belief, Experian does not determine whether there are

inconsistencies in the constumet’s file that would confirm the consumer’s

33 Upon information end belief, E-OSCAR is owned by a separate entity, the On-

Line Data Exchange LLC, or OLDE, of which Experian, along with the other NCRAs, is
a partial owner.
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assertion, Former employecé also said that, except in very hmited circomstances,
they did not rely on documentary evidence from the consumer or furnisher —
billing statements, cancelled checks, or the like - to confim or reject disputes
regarding consumers” credit information (as opposed to ministerial changes ina

consumer’s address or other identifying information, for example). Nor, upon

information and belief, does Experian seek to validate a dispute by determining :
whether it is consistent with other complaints it has received or errors it has
jdentified, including whether the fumisher of the information is reputable and has
proved reliable in the past.

74.  The FTC has issued guidance that makes clear that reasonable reinvestigation
requires “a good faith effort to determine the accuracy of the disputed item or
ite;ms. In some cases, cvidence submitted by the consumer (e.g., a clear copy of 4
dated cancelled check paying off an account showing an outstanding balance),

standing alone, will make it clear than an item is inaccurate or inc:::mplc:tc.”"1

75.  The Attomey General’s Office reviewed dozens of _
_. In those cases, there was not any evidence that “

I Instead, as laid

out below, Experian GGG

3 BTC, Forty Years of Experience Report, supra, at 76.
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76.

77.

For example, the long-standing errors in Consumers 6’s credit report could have
been avoided had Experian conducted a reasonable reinvestigation of their
dispute. Consumers 6, a married couple in Gautier, Mississippi, made a mistake
on their taxes in 2007. Several years later, the State of Mississippi sent them a
letter demanding an additional payment and they immediately paid the balance
owed. The State nonetheless imposed a tax lien, which was then picked up by
Experian and added to their credit reports. Consumers 6 obtained a letter from the
State indicating that the lien was imposed in error, which they sent to Experian in
support of their dispute. Experian updated tl‘wir credit reports to indicate that the

lien was paid, but would not remove the lien from their records — which accurate

reporting required. Had Bxperian simply read the letter provided by Consumers 6

— nothing more sophisticated or burdensome was required — it would have had
plain evidence of the error and could have corrected their credit report. [t w.as not
until after the couple complained to the Coxlmsumcr Financial Protection Burean,
that, within days, Experian coxrected their report.

Court rutings have put Experian on notice that relying on ACDYVs, in lieu of
meaningful, substantive reinvestigations, is insufficient to satisfy its
reinvestigation duties under the FCRA. In Apodaca v. Discovery Financial
Services, 417 F. Supp. 2d 1220 (D.N.M. 2006), for example, Plaintiff’s credit file
had been mixed with another Ms. Apodaca with a different social security number
in a different city in New Mexico. As she tried to fix her report in time to close
on the purchase of a house, Plaintiff wrote, repeatedly, to the credit bureau

(Bquifax) with proof that she was not the Ms. Apodaca with a prior bankruptcy.
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Though she explained, repeatedly, that two digits of the social security nurobers
had been transposed and that her date of birth differed from the other Apodaca,
and provided copies of the relevant bankruptey documents, Equifax sent only a
generically coded dispute, “not mine.” When Equifax’s public records vendor
checked the records, without the benefit of Ms. Apodaca’s details and documents,
they did not notice the differences in the identifiers.

78.  The District Court of New Mexico, ruling on Equifax’s motion for summary
judgment, considered whether the consumer mustered sufficient evidence to
suggest that Equifax acted win"uIly, and therefore was subject to punitive
damages. The Court’s apinion applies with equal force to Fxperian’s stilted and
ineffectual investigation process:

Based on the evidence of record, a rational factfinder could
conclude that Equifax knew that the pointless repetition of
the cursory CDV procedure by its various agents and
contractors was not going to resolve Pleintiff's dispute in a

timely manner and only served to delay the matter until ;
Plaintiff tired of the process or proceeded to litigation.>

79.  Experian’s reliance on ACDVs and CDVs is neither reasonable nor efficient
particularly where consumers have put it on notice of the specifics of their
disputes or supplied documents explaining or verifying the errors. In the words of
the Apodaca district court, the “cost of correctly performing the investigation in
this manner the first time might well be less expensive than the ‘reinvestigation’
procedure . . . actually employed in this casc, which simply repeated the cursory

CDV process over and over again with the same result,”*

35 14, at 1234,

3 1d at 1232.
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82.  Experian’s reliance on ACDVs and CDV's to “process disputes” does not satisfy
its obligations to reinvestigate disputes under the FCRA. Nor does quickly
reviewing consumer disputes solely in order to code them and pass them to
fumnishers, whose directions (as described in paragraphs 95-98 below) Experian

will uncritically adopt, amount to “considering” a consumer’s dispute, &s the

FCRA demands,

B. Experian Creates Impermissible Obstacles to Reinvestigating
Disputes.

83.  The FCRA requires NCRAs to conduct reasonable reinvestigations of consumer
disputes “free of charge,” and nowhere indicates that credit bureaus can condition
that reinvestigation on obtzining a credit report. 15 U.S.C. § 1681i(a)(1)}(A}.

84. However, consumers canzot file a dispute with Experian without having first

obtained their credit report and providing the identification number on that report.
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Bven though consumers are entitled one free report annually from each NCRA,

Experian’s requirement presents a barrier to consumers invoking their dispute

| rights when the consumer has difficulty accessing the free annual report. See e.g.
G142,

85,  Consumer 7, from Chunky, Mississippi, has been unable to persuade Experian
that he is not deceased. In 2011, when he attempted to buy a car, the dealer
informed him that, according to Bxperian (alone among the credit bureaus), he
was dead. Despite calling Experian numerous times, he has been unable to
correct his credit report. Consumer 7 was unable to file a dispute because
Experian call center representatives advised him that he had to buy his credit
report in order to file a dispute and he did not have the money for it, especially
since he was told that if he purchased a credit report, he automatically would be
signed up for a monthly monitoring service. Because of the credit report error,
Consnmer 7 reports that he was unable to obtain conventional credit and had to

resort to a subprime lender that charged higher fees and a larger down-payment.

86.‘5
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87.

88..

89,

90.

This is clearly contrary o the FTC’s guidance, entitled “NC PREREQUISITES
TODUTY TO INVESTIGATE,” which notes that “[a] CRA’s obligation to
investigate disputed items is not contingent upon the consumer’s obtaining a file
disclosure from the CRA .. ™’

C. Experian’s Staffing and Compensation Makes it Difficult for

Consumers to Initiate Disputes and Impossible for Employees to
Adequately Record and Investigate Them.

Even those consumers who pay for credit reports or obtain their annual free credit
reports can find it hard to reach an Experian representative to file disputes by -
phone. Many Mississippi consumers complained that it was difficult or
impossible to reach an Experian representative by telephone to file disputes, This
has been a consistent problem for Experian and the other NCRAs, which, in
response to complaints of excessive wait times and difficulty reaching customer
service representatives, were required in a 2000 consent order with the FTC, to
maintain adequate personnel.®®

Even though Experian is twice the size of its next competitor, as of —
I

Former Experian call center employees told the Attormey General’s Office that
they had na more than three to five minutes to handle each call, which was
particularly inadequate if a consumer had questions, a complicated dispute, or

disputed multiple items. They emphasized the enormous pressure they faced to

n FTC, Forty Years of' Experience Report, supra, at 77.

38 See Consent Decree, FTC v. Experian Mktg. Info. Solutions, Inc., No. 3-

00CV0056-L (N.D. Tex. Jan. 19, 2600).
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91.

92.

speed through processing dispules and meet “production” quotas, which would
make it difficult to fully capture disputes, Jet alone investigate them. Each
employee’s phone showed the duration of the current call and the employee’s
average call time including the number of calls waiting in the queue, emails were
sent out regularly that included the call times of every representative, and a white
board in the command center, visible from the call center floor, broadcast overall
metn'csr of all the call centers and the number of days behind they were on

processing incoming mail, Employees described competitions within the office

for speed, bonuses for meeting quotas and for top sellers, and probation for those

whose numbers were Tow. [N

Former employees observed that this drive for speed affected Experian’s
accuracy. Often, the notes in a consumer’s record did not reflect what the
consumer reported saying during a previous phone call, nor did the resclution
seern to address the consumer’s dispuic. Employees handling mail found they
had to sacrifice careful review when consumers submitted large volumes of
documents. Other employees noted that they frequently saw mistakes in credit
reports that seemed to be caused by human error o by a failure to properly handle
the original dispute. All of these factors mai(c it less likely that errors, once

identified, are correctly resolved.

These quotas and compensation incentives are confirmed by “
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D. Experian’s Reliance on Furnishers to Conduct an Investigation is
Unreasonable. :

93.  The Fifth Circuit Court of Appeals, ruling more than twenty years ago in a case
against Experian’s predecessor, TRW, held that credit reporting agencies have a
duty of investigation independent of furnishers. The case, Stevenson v, TRW, 987
F.2d 288 (5th Cir. 1993), involved a consumer whose report included accounts
belonging to another John Stevenson living in Arlington, Texas, and to his son,
John Stevenson, Jr. Finding that the FCRA “places the burden of investigation
squarely” on the credit reporting agencies, the Court of Appeals affirmed a
finding that TRW’s failure to do its own investigation violated the FCRA, further
poting that “[i]n a reinvestigation of the scouracy of credit reports, a credit bureau
must bear some responsibility for evaluating the accuracy of information obtained

from subscribers.”*’

3 Id_at 293. See also, Saenz v. TransUnion, 621 B. Supp. 2d 1074, 1083 (D. Ore.
2007) (rejecting TransUnion’s contention that “creditors are better situated than reporting :
agencies to determine the accuracy of disputed information” as “rest[ing] upon a :
significant mischaracterization of its duties under the FCRA™). 5
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94,  When a furnisher receives an ACDV, gencrally it nwust respond to the credit
reporting agency within 30 days and either confirm that the data is accurate as
repoarted or provide the corrected information, 15 U.8.C, § 1681i(a)(10(A).
Experian simply adopts or, in the words of courts and consumer advocates,

“parrots” whatever direction it receives from the furnisher. Fumishers, not

Experian, conduct and determine the results of any re-investigation.
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_ » B | i ) | However, the Mississippi Attorney
General’s Office found no evidence — || NENGTGEGGGG
I 1ot it changed its practice to do anything more than parrot furnishers’
responses,

98. A number of former employees confirmed to the Mississippi Attomey General's |

Office that, if a consumer called in to question the results of a dispute, they would

simply read the furnisher’s response. Further, |GGG

_i
|
m |

99.  Yet the languape of the FCRA places the burden of proof in a dispute
investigation on the fumisher, not the consumer, as the Act provides that if

disputed information is inaccurate or cannot be verified, it should be deleted. 15

U.S.C. § 1681i(a)(5)(A). Thus, if a consumer provides evidence and
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160.

101.

102

documentation that she is correct, and the furnisher responds without such
evidence, the disputed information is “unverifiable” by nature, and should be
deleted.

Consumer 8, a Southaven, Mississippi, resident was the victim of identity theft.
Though she repeatedly submitted a police report and identity theft affidavit to
Experian {and the other credit bureaus), she was told that the creditors had
confirmed her identity and that the disputed items therefore would not be
changed. Because her credit report includes judgments that are not hers, this
consumer has been unﬁble {o rent an apartment or get a bank accouut and has to
make all of her payments in cash.

Experian knows or should know, from the plain language of the FCRA and court
decisions interpreting it, that simply adopting the furnishers’ unverified responses
does not constitute reasonable reinvestigation.*’

Experian’s reliance on furnishers is especially unreasonable since, upon
information and belief, Experian knows, or should know, that furnishers
themselves often do not adequately investigate consumer disputes. Having failed
m to provide consumers® dispute letters and supporting
documents to the furnishers, and instead providing only a code that categorizes

the dispute (and, perhaps, a brief narrative description of the dis.pute, see, Section

@ Seé, Cushman v. Trans Union Corp, 115 F.3d 220, 225 {3rd Cir. 1997) (holding

that a reinvestigation “must consist of something more than merely parroting information
received from other sources,”); Soghomonian v. United States, 278 F. Supp. 2d 1151,
1156 (B.D. Cal. 2003) (unreasonable for NCRA to defer entirely to source of information
without considering the information in the consumer’s dispute) vacated as a condition of
settlement, 2005 WL 1972594, No. 99-CV-5773 (E.D. Cal. 2005).
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11D, it would be unreasonable to belicve that furnishers could investigate

consumers’ complaints.

103.  In fact, a number of furnishers have complained that the dispnte codes are “vague

and broad,” and that the NCRAs do not always provide sufficient information to

allow them to understand or investigate disputes.*! —

104. In addition, upon information and belief, Experian has long known, or has had
reason to know, that furnishers typically verify information simply by returning to
the same electronic records that generated the disputed information in the first

place. Thus, if there is an error in the furnisher’s system, the erroneous

! FTC and Bd. of Governors of the Fed. Reserve Sys., Report to Congress on the
Fair Credit Reporting Act Dispute Process at 17 (Aug. 2006)
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105.

106.

107.

information will be used to “investigate” the dispute and the incorrect information |
is v.t:riﬁet:i ag accurate,

E. Experian Refuses to Investigate Legitimate Consumer Disputes.

In many instances, Experian tefuses to conduct even this limited process of
classifying consumer disputes, improperly and deceptively representing that a
consumer previously has filed the same dispute and refusing, as a result, even to
pass information rcgardiﬁg the dispute to the furnisher.

The FTC has indicated that NCRAs “must assume a consumer’s dispute is bona x
fide, unless there is evidence to the contrary.”* Such “contrary” evidence might i
include non-specific allegations and form letters with blanket disputes of all

information in the consumer’s file, which are indicia of the involvement of the

type of credit repair organizations that file frivolous disputes. /d. Further, “a

consumer reporting agency may terminate a reinvestigation of information

disputed by a consumer under that paragraph if the agency reasonably determines
that the dispute by the consumer is frivolous or irrelevant, including by reason of

a failure by a consumer to provide sufficient information to investigate the

disputed information.” 15 U.8.C. § 1681i(a)(3)(A).

Generally, the NCRAs will code disputes into three broad categories: ownership

(“not mine”), status (payments were not late or the debt was paid or is in the

wrong amount), or general (a catch-all). Upon information and belief, if a

consumer’s subsequent dispute on a tradeline is of the same type as a previous

dispute, the new dispute will be deemed duplicative and will not be

‘2 PTC, Forty Years of Experience, supra, at 77,
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reinvestigated, even if the disputes are actually different. Thus, if a consumer
complained that a record of a late payment on his Chase card was an error {(status
dispute), and then later filed a separate dispute that he had paid off his Chase card,
which still showed a balance (status dispute), the dispute regarding the balance
would not be investigated. Further, if the first dispute is assigned a general code
(catch-all), Experian will consider any subsequent dispute regarding that tradeline
to fall within its scope, and will treat it as a multiple — and, therefore, ;
uninvestigated — dispute.

108, The failure to investigate these subsequent disputes is another systemic failure of
Experian’s reinvestigation process.
F. Experian Does Not Provide Consumers with the Same Information it

Gives Creditors, Undermining Consumers’ Ability to Dispute
Inaccuracies.

109.  As laid out in Section VI, Experian fails to provide full credit files to consumers. |
\

\

Consumers cannot dispute erroneous information that is shared with potential ‘

creditors, but not disclosed to them.

G. Experian’s Failure to Reinvestigate Consumer Disputes is Also Unfair
and Deceptive.

110. Bxperian’s failure to investigate consumer disputes is unfair because it hinders or
prevents consumers from rectifying errors cansed by deficiencies in Experian’s
practices in creating credit reports a_nd by other sources of error. Consumers |
suffer or are likely to suffer substantial injury from being unable to remedy
erroneous information in their eredit reports, from loss of employment
opportunities, to being declined for or offered unfavorable terms for credit, to

emotional harm and embarrassment, among other things. Consumers do not have
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the ability to avoid the injuries caused by Experian’s failure to reinvestigate
disputes because they have no control over whether creditors, employers, or
others will rely on credit reports in making decisions and have no control over }
which credit reporting agency they use to obtain consumer credit reports. I

111. In addition, Experian misrepresents to consumers that it evaluates furnishers’ : |

reviews of their disputes. In standard, form language that Experian sends to

consumers, it acknowledges that it forwards consumners’ disputes to furnishers for

their investigation, but then promises: [N

Recause Bxperian merely adopts, and does not depart from, firmishers’
conclusions regarding disputes, this is a misleading statement that reasonably
leads consumers to believe that Experian assesscs furnishers’ response to
consumer disputes. This misrepresentation is material as Experian is obligated to
reinvestigate consumer disputes and misleads consumers into believing it A
performs this essential part of the reinvestigation process, when in fact it does not.

. EXPERIAN FAILS TO PROVIDE ALL RELEVANT INFORMATION
REGARDING CONSUMER DISPUTES TO THE FURNISHER OF THE
INFORMATION.

112.  Until —,1 Experian refused to forward to furnishers documents provided
by consumers to explain or substantiate their disputes. At least one federal district
court has found that “refusal to forward . . , supplemental material to {the

fumisher] may be considered a willful or reckless viofation of the F CRA.®

43 Dixon-Rollins v. Experian, 753 F. Supp. 24 452, 463 (E.D. Pa. 2010), citing 15
U.S.C. § 1681i(a)(2).
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113.

114.

115.

As the FTC has explained, the duty to transmit information allows the furnisher to
be “fully informed of the basis for the dispute and . . . research relevant sources
(e.g., original applications or payment ledgers).” The FTC’s guidance continued:

A CRA does not comply with this provision if it merely

indicates the nature of the dispute, without communicating

to the funisher the specific relevant information received

from the consumer. For example, if the consumer claimed

“never late™ and submitted documentation (such as

cancelled checks) to support his/her dispute, a CRA does

not comply with the requirement that is provide “all

relevant information” if it simply notifies the fomisher that

the consumer disputes the payment history without

commumicating the evidence received. The CRA may

conply in all cases by forwarding all communications and
documents provided by the consumer. !

Mississippi consumers have spent significant time and money sending, often by
certified mail to make sure they are received, letters to Experian with cancelled
checks, their social security cards, letters from creditors, and a range of other |
documents, — I I v g |
Purther, upon information and belief, the ACDYV field that permits inclusion of a

narrative to summarize or provide key details from consumer disputes is not used

in the majority of the ACDVs, and, when it is, often fails to convey either the

substance of or support for the consumers’ complaints. The CFPB found that, on

average, the narrative field was used by the NCRAs only 26% of the time. Former

Experian employees also reported never using the narrative field ot being directed

not to use it, The pressure on Experian employees to meet production quotas and

“FTC, Forty Years of Experience Report, supra, at 77-78.
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compensation benchmarks made it infeasible or unlikely that they would take the
additional time to provide detailed descriptions of consumers’ disputes.
116, Asof —, e-OSCAR began to permit Experian to transmit consumer

documents to furnishers. NI

; N Thus, for

example, Experian would not forward documents in the case of a consumer who
disputes that he or she is liable for a debt because the consumer is only an |
authorized user, which is a common dispute. Nor will Experian forward to its
public records vendor a copy of an order vacating a judgment that the consumer
had submitted by mail. Given the ease and negligible cost of transmitting
information ¢lectronically, these constraints are unreasonable and inconsistent |
with Experian’s duties under the FCRA.
117. As with Bxperian’s other violations of the FCRA, the failure to provide
consumers’ dispute documents to furnishers, particutarly given the fact that
Experian defers entirely to furnishers’ investigation results, is an unfair practice.
By failing to provide dispute documents and letters explaining the alleged errors
to furnishers, it is less likely that the errors will be corrected. ;
118. Further, Experian misleads consumers about its new policies and practices for
sharing dispute information with furnishers. In a recent webinar for consumers,

Experian’s Director of Public Education, Rod Griffin, promised that “every single
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document” a consumer provides is sent to the furnisher.*® Yet, Experian knows
that this representation, &s a matter of policy, is untrue, Based on those
representations, consumers would reasonably believe that Experian sends every
document consumers submit with their disputes to furnishers, This
misrepresentation is material as many consumers devote significant effort to
collecting documents and drafting explanations of errors in their credit reports
based on the understanding that their information will be seen and evaluated by
entities with the power to correct them.

IV. EXPERIAN FAILS TO EXCLUDE NEGATIVE OBSOLETE ACCOUNTS
APPEARING ON CONSUMERS*' CREDIT REPORTS.

119. The FCRA requires that negative accounts that are more than 7 years old be
removed from consumers’ credit reports. 15 U.S.C. § 1681c(a). The 7 year
period begins, for accounts that are placed for collection (either internally or with
a third party debt collector) or charged off {moved from profit to loss on the
creditor’s balance sheet), 180 days after the first missed payment. 15 U.S.C. §
1681c(c). This date is sometimes referred to as the “Date of First Delinquency.”

120. Mississippi constmmers-complained that obsolete negative information past this 7
year limit has erroneously appeared on their credit reports. Not only do these
errors cause information that ought to be removed from consumers” credit reports

to continue to appear, but they also make any delinquencies appear to be more

*5 Webinar Recording: Clients, Credit Reports, and Credit Scores, Ctr. for Fin.
Social Work at 42:11 (Mar. 20, 2014), ,
littp://www.socialjasticésohitions.ors/20 14/03/26/webinar-recording-clients-eredit-
reports-credit-scores/.
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12},

122.

rebent, and therefore, likely more relevant to creditors’ or employers’ decisions.
More recent delinquencies also have greater impact on consumers’ credit scores.
Accounts reported by debt buyers or collection agencies are especially prone to
these types of errors. Upon information and belief, when debt is transferred,
which is often more than once, the date of first delinguency should stay the same,
but instead often drops off or is replaced with the date that the collector or buyer
acquired the debt. Mississippi consumers reported that accounts had been re-
aged, for cxample, with the date of the dispute replacing the date of their
delinquency when their accounts transferred to debt collectors,

In some measure, these errors may be attributed to the fact that Experian permits
miscoding of debt buyers or collection agencies as “factoring companies”

according to expert testimony offered in Toliver v. Kxperian, No. 4:12¢v02436

{S.D. Tex. July 5, 2013), Affidavit of Edwin Johansson at 2, ECF No. 48-1. |

N I

impact of this coding is significant: ][N = original creditors.

Upon information and belief, by treating debt collectors, like LVNYV, as ]

— B i} ) B 7 This has

the effect of re-aging consumers’ accounts to allow obsolete debt to remain

improperly on consumers’ credit reports or to cause the debt to appear more
recent, and therefore more damaging, than it is. In Plaintiff Toliver’s case, the

misceding made her 6 year cld debt seem like a recent delinquency. Experian
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123.

124,

does not list the date of first delinquency on consumer credit reports, making it

difficult for consumers to identify the error. Further, upon information and belief,

Experian does not | RS
Experian’s failure to exclude obsolete accounts also is unfair becanse it permits
derogatory aged accounts o continue to appear on credit reports more than 7
years past their date of first delinquency. This prevents consumers from putting
behind them past errors or adversities and deprives them of the opportunity,

mandated by the FCRA, to rebuild their lives and their credit. That causes or is

opportunities, to being declined for or offered unfavorable terms for credit, to the
emotional harm and embarrassment suffered by consumers. Consumers do not
have the ability to avoid Experian’s reporting of obsolete accounts, and, as
explained in Section 11, often cannot correct it; nor can they reasonably avoid the
injuries caused by that inaccuracy.

EXPERIAN FAILS TO PREVENT INFORMATION THAT WAS

DELETED OR CORRECTED FROM BEING REINSERTED ON
CONSUMER CREDIT REPORTS.

|
|
|
likely to cause substantial injury to consumers — from loss of employment ' |
Adding insult to injury, after many consumers spent months or years trying to get

inaccurate information removed from their credit reports, they later find that the

inaccurate information has resurfaced into their credit reports, a problem referred

10 as “reinsertion.” The problem of reinsertion was so significant that Congress

specifically added protections for consumers to prevent wrongful reinsertion.
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125.

126.

Now, section 1681i(a)(5) of the FCRA requires {hat “[a] consumer reporting
agency shall maintain reasonable procedures designed to prevent the reappearance
in a consumer’s file, and in consumer reports on the consumer, of information that
is deleted” unless “the person who furnishes the information certifies that the
information is complete and accurate” and “notiffies] the consumer of the
reinsertion in writing not later than S business days after the reinsertion.”
Mississippi consumers reported that inaccurate information that they had finally
gotten removed from their credit reports later reappeared. According to numerous
public reports and testimony, the problem seems to arise because Experian deletes
or updates the information, but the furnisher does not. The fumisher, or a buyer
or collector that acquires an account, may continue to report the inaccurate credit
information, which then is added again to the consumer’s credit report because
steps have not been taken to “hard delete” the record — in ather words, not merely
remove it, but block it from reappearing. Upon information and belief, despite
numerous complaints, deleted or updated information continues to resurface in
consumers’ credit reports becanse Experian has failed to take reasonable measures
to permanently suppress inaccurate iﬁcmaﬁon or otherwise prevent the
reinsertion of inaccurate information.

Likewise, Experian’s failure to employ reasonable procedures to prevent
inaccurate information that was deleted or has been corrected from being
reinserted on consumer’s credit reports is also unfair. In many instances, it took
consumers months or years to get the errors corrected, only to have the errors

reappear. Having erroneous or inaccurate information reinserted on a consumer’s
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VI8

127.

128;

129,

credit report is unfair in that it causes or is likely to cause substantial injury —
from loss of employment opportunities, to being declined for or offered
unfavorable terms for credit, to the emotional harm and embarrassment suffered
by consumers. Consumers do not have the ability to avoid Experian’s reinsertion
of inaccyrate information, nor can they reasonably avoid the injuries caused by
the reappearance of the inaccurate information.

EXPERIAN DOES NOT PROVIDE CONSUMERS WITH THEIR FULL
CREDIT FILES.

The FCRA requires that the NCRAs, upon ﬁ consumer's req.uest, “clearly and
accurately disclose to the consumer: (1) All information in the consumer’s file at
the time of the request . . . . 15 U.S.C. § 1681g(a)(1). Yet Experian consistently
fails to provide consumers with all such information, and in fact sometimes

provides reports to consumers that contain less information than reports provided

_ to creditors or other users. Certainly, the report provided to a creditor on a

CODSUIMEr represents information in the NCRA’s file for that consumer.

A Mississippi consumer interviewed by the Attomey General’s Office
complained that derogatory credit information relied on by potential creditors did
not appear on the credit reports he obtained. This is consistent with reports from
elsewhere in the country, such as that of Judy Thomas, featured on 60 Minutes

6

and discussed above.*

Upon inforination and belief, the problem seems to arise because Experian uses

N i cctricving a credit report for a consumer than they do when

puiling a credit report for a creditor. When consumers order their credit reports

46 See CBS, 40 Million Mistakes, supra,
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130.

131.

from Experian’s website, they are required to answer a series of questions -
beyond their name, address, and social security number, and including prior
addresses or credit accounts, payments, and balances, designed to precisely
identify them (and, thus, their credit information). Consumers seeking their credit

reports by phone or mail are required to provide their social security numbers and

dates of birth. m .
— D B i Thus, ﬂiecreditreportprovidéd to the creditor :

may have additional information not provided in the consumer’s own credit

report. As laid out above, this is particularly problematic as the looser matching
criteria ave more likely to generate mixed files.

While this is not information belonging to the requesting consumer, it is
information in the consumer’s “credit file.” Therefore, the FCRA requires that
this information be provided to the consumer. Not only does this comply with the
plain langunage of the statute, but it is the only interpretation that carries out the
FCRA’s purpose to allow consumers to receive and, if necessary, dispute
information that c;editors, eﬁployem, landlords, or other parties use to assess
their creditworthiness and reliability.

Experian also misrepresents that it providés consumers with the same information
that their creditors receive. On its website, Experian describes the difference

between a consumer disclosure, the report provided to the consumer, and a credit
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report, the report provided to creditors. The key difference is that the consumer
disclosure includes seme inquiries (such as account monitoring and those
resulting in preapproved offers) and some address and demographic information
that are not displayed on the credit report viewed by lenders.*’

132. That description fails to inform consumers of a material difference between the

fused to populate the

two reports — that due to the
credit report viewed by lenders, the credit report provided to lenders may include
additional accounts or personal identifying information that is not included in the
teport provided to the consumer. This material omission, particularly in light of
Experian’s assurance that the reports are identical, misleads or is likely to mislead
consumers. This misrepresentation causes or is likely to cause injury to I
consumers because they cannot dispute information that is not in the credit reports
provided to them. Consumers are not entitled to see credit reports relied upon by
lenders, even if the lender makes an adverse decision based on the report. Thus,
consumers may never discover if the report relied upon by a lender contains
inaccurate derogatory information, and due to Experian’s material omission,
consumers will not know to ask or investigate.
133.  The practice of not providing conswmers with information that is provided
creditors and other users is also unfatr. This practice causes or likely causes
substantial injury to consumners — from loss of employment opportunities, to

being declined for or offered unfavorable terms for credit, to the emotional harm

47 Bxperian, htth://www.expedan.cor/credit-sducation/éredit-report-fags html,
“What's the difference between a consumer disclosure and a credit report?” (last visited
May 9, 2014).
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and embarrassment suffered by consumers duc to inaccurate information in their i
credit reports that they cannot see or correct. Consumers cannot reasonably avoid

these injuries because they are not informed that the creditor or other user may see

more information than is in the credit report the consumer receives.

VII. EXPERIAN DECEPTIVELY MARKETS CREPIT MONITORING
SERVICES AND CREDPIT SCORES.

134, Experian has managed to turn its failures to maintain accurate credit reports and a
. its refusal to investigate consumer disputes into a business opportunity, As

already noted, Experian requires consumers to obtain a credit report - often paid —
in order to dispute potential errors in their credit reporis. When consumers are
able to reach an agent over the phone to file disputes — about errors that Experian
often could have and should have prevented — Experian markets credit monitoring :
to them, which purports to alert consumers to erroneous information when it |
appeats in their credit reports. Figuratively, Experian has taken the lemons it ;
gives consumers and turned them into lemonade for the company. The praducts — i ‘
though [l - are marketed deceptively and provide little benefit to
consumers;

135,
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136. Former Experian cmployees interviewed by the Mississippi Attorney General’s

Office said that they were required to pitch Experian’s credit monitoring services

and other products to consumers on evcry call. Experian admonished employees
who failed to push the products, tracked their sales vohume, and gave prizes to
employees who sold the most products and services.

137. Omn Experian.com and other secondary websites owned and/or operated by
Experian, advertisements lure consumers in with a promise of “free” credit scores
or $1 credit reports, but are designed to enroll conswmers in a monthly credit
monitoring service. For example, on Experian’s home page, the company

features in large font, prominently situated at the top of the page:

WHAT’S YOUR EXPERIAN CREDIT SCORE?
FIND OUT NOW FOR FREE WHEN YOU
CHECK YOUR CREDIT REPORT FOR $1

In much smatler font, at the bottom of the page, Experian discloses:

‘When you order your $1 Credit Report & FREE Score, you will begin your 7-day trial
membership in Experian Credit TrackerSM. If you don't cancel your membership within

-
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the 7-day trial period,* you will be billed $19.95 for each month that you continue your
membership.*?

138. When consumers click on the offer, they are directed to a new screen, which again

describes “Your $1 Experian credit report and FREE score,” with no disclosure

on that page of a monthly fee.
! 139.  Afier entering their name, address, and email address, consumers can acocess a
| .
third screen, which at the middle of the page, to the right, prominently recaps the

consumer’s costs:
Your Order ;
Experian Credit Report $1.00
Experian Credit Score Frea
Order Total: $1.00

140. Undemeath this box, in smaller font, Experian notes that it “Includes 7-day trial |
membership in Experian Credit Tracker. You may cancel your trial membership
at any time within 7 days without charge.”

141.  Only after scrolling down fo a portion of the page that is not initially visible, on !
the opposite side of the screen, under *Payment Information” does Experian
remind consumers, again in smaller font: “When you order your $1 Credit Report
and FREE Score here, you will begin your 7-day trial membership in Experian
Credit Tracker™ Credit Monitoring. You may cancel your trial membership at
any time within 7 days without charge.” (cmphasis in original). The price of

the credit monitoring service is not disclosed anywhere on this page.

*? Bxperian, http://www. Experian.com {last visited May 9, 2014) (emphasis in
original).
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142, Thus, in order to obtzin the “free” credit score or $1 credit report or score,

consumers are enrolled in the monthly credit monitoring, costing $17.95, $19.95,
ot another standard fec cach month.

i43. OCne Mississipﬁi consumer interviewed by the Attorney General’s Office works in
the information security ficld and considers herself a savvy intemet user. Yet, in
trying to obtain her free credit report, she ended up at an Experian website and
clicked on the link to obtain her “free” annual credit reposts. It took her 2 few

months to realize that her credit card was being billed for a monthly monitoring

service that she did not realize she had sipned up for. Tt was extremely difficult to

cancel the service; after one call to Experian, she was promised that the charges

would be reversed, but she received no credit and continued to be billed each

month. Ultimately, she was billed $104.65 and reimbursed $29.90; one charge for ,
$14.95 was applied 14 days after her reimbursement.

144. Not only are Mississippi consumers often deceived into purchasing monthly
services or products from Experian, many have complained that it is difficult to
cancel the service. This includes Mississippi consumers who are entitled to free
credit reports,*® but who complained that they were unable 1o obtain them and
therefore resorted to purchasing them. The result ofien is that consmners who
were entitled to a free credit report not only do not get their free report, but

instead become consumers paying monthly fees to Experian. |

3 Experian is required by law to provide consumers with their credit reports for
free on an annual basis or if their credit reports are inaccurate because of fraud orifa ‘
company takes adverse action against them based on information in their credit reports. :
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~ hardships may purchase their credit score. Virtually every lender checking

The possibility of identity theft worries many consumers, and Experian markets
credit monitoring services to consumers as a way to “stop identity theft in its
tracks,” leading consumers to believe that they will be protected against identity
theft if they purchase the service.” That is mislcading. Credit monitoring is not
an effective tool in catching cammon types of identity theft, including
unauthorized charges to a consumer’s existing accounts. Rather, Experian’s

credit monitoring only tracks the opening of new accounts or inquiries by a

Most basically, Experian leads consumers to believe that they have to commit to a

paid service to protect themselves against identity thieves, when the FCRA f
entitles consumers who are victims of identity theft to place a free 90-day fraud '
alert on their credit report and get their credit reports from all three credit bureaus |

for free. 15 U.S.C. 1681c-1(a)(1)(A). Experian fails to disclose to consumers

Consumers are not entitled to obtain their credit scores for free, unlike their credit
reports. Consumers preparing to seck a mortgage, school, or car loan, applying |

for security clearance, or when trying to rehabilitate their credit after a period of i

consumers’ credit scores will rely on their “FICO” scores, a credit score generated

by the Fair Isaac Corporation. The scores Experian sells to consumers is its own

3} Experian: Protect My ID, hitp://www.protectmyid.com/ (last visited May 9,

145.
potential creditor,
146.
their rights to this no-cost assistance,
147.
2014).
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proprietary score based on the “PLUS Score model,” which is not used by
lenders. ™

148.  Uniless consnmers are hunting for information on Experian’s credit score,
consumers will not understand that they are purchasing “educational” credit
scores, and not their official scores weighed by creditors. On Experian’s home ,
page, it says in large capital letters, “WHAT’S YOUR EXPERJAN CREDIT

SCORE?” There is no asterisk or other indicator directing the consumer to scroll

down to the bottom of the page to read a disclosure about the credit score they are

buying. At the bottom of the screen, in tiny print, it states: “Caleulated on the PLUS

Score model, your Experian Credit Score indicates your relative credit risk fevel for educational purposes and
is not the score used by leaders, Learn More,”

149.  Consumers whe follow that link will learn that Experian’s credit score will “‘help
you se¢ and understand how lenders view your credit worthiness. Tt is not used by
lenders, but it is indicative of your overall credit risk.” This pop-up box goes on
to explain that there are many reasons consumers’ credit scores may differ across
the credit bureaus (e.g., because furnishers may not report to all of the bureaus)

and that:

lenders and insurers use several different credit scoring
models so don't be surprised if your lender gives youn a
score that's different from the PLUS Score. Just remember

** Experian also markets VantageScore, a credit score developed jointly by
Experian, Equifax, and TransUnion and, according to the VantageScore website, is used
by some secondary market participants. Upon information and beljef, the “Experian
credit score,” is the educational score derived from the PLUS Score model, and not the
VantageScore. Experian, hitp://www.experian. com/consumer-products/credit-score.html
(last visited May 9, 2014); Vantage Score, htip://www.vantagescore.com/who-uses-our-
model (last visited May 9, 2014).

53 Experian, http://www.experian.com (last visited May 9, 2014)
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that your associated risk level is often the same even if the

number is not. For some consumers however, the risk

assessment of a PLUS Score could vary, sometimes

substantially, from a lender's score. If the lender's score is

lower than your PLUS Score, it is possible that this
difference can lead to higher interest rates and sometimes i
credit denial.

This difficult-to-find and -follow disclosure seems designed to, and would, assure
consumers that, in most instances, Experian’s credit score will be a relevant and
accurate gauge of their creditworthiness.

150. The CFPB compared the educational credit scores offered by cach of the three
NCRAs (they each market their own) with the FICO credit scores and found that
19% of consumers would fall into a different credit score category, meaning they
“would likely have a moderate but meaningfully different impression of their
credit score than wonld a creditor using the other score.”** These score
discrepancies can give consumers the false hape that they qualify for credit or low -
interest rates when they do not, or might dissuvade them for applying for credit for
which they would qualify. Additionally, when the educational score is artificially
high, it can lead to consumers apply for credit, thereby generating additional
credit inquiries, which can negatively affect their actual credit scores.

151. By failing to prominently and clearly disclose to consumers the material fact that
the score it sells is not the same as the score relied on by creditors and may not

help them to evaluate their creditworthiness and by falsely assuring consumers

5 CRPB, Analysis of Differences Between Consumer- and Creditor- Purchased

Credit-Scores at 17 (Sept. 2012), available at
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201209_Analysis Differences Consumer_Credit.pdf,
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that its credit score is no less reliable or relevant than other credit scores,
Experian’s mislecads consumers in marketing its credit score.

VII. EXPERIAN ACTED WILLFULLY IN FAILING TO COMPLY WITH ITS
STATUTORY DUTIES.

152.  Upon information and belief, Experian made an intentional decision to operate a
system without reasonable safeguards to maximize accuracy or to resolve disputes
when errors arose. The conduct outlined in this complaint does not represent
inadvertent or isolated human errors, but resulted from conscious policy
decisions, made and maintained over time, in the face of contrary guidance and
enforcement actions by regulators and consumcrs'; and court decisions.

153.  Accordingly, Experian has acted willfully in failing to meet its obligations under
the FCRA, as discussed herein. Wilifulness, as interpreted by the Supreme Court,
encompasses hoth knowing and reckless violations.>

154.  For decades, Experian has resolved enforcement actions by government entities
and been subject to countless disputes, settlements, and judgments in cases
brought by individual consumers or classes of consumers re.garding violations of
the FCRA and unfair and deceptive practices. These cases involve, among others,
consumers whose files were mixed with those of family members or sirangers,
living consumers classified as deceased, public record or other account
information that is inaccurate, disputes that are never investigated or resolved
{until after litigation) — the very same conduct that is the subject of this
Complaint. Experian’s failure to remedy these recurring violations suggests

reckless or knowing disregard for its obligations under the FCRA,

5 Safeco Ins. Co. of Am. v. Burr, 551 U.S. 47, 59-60 (2007).
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155.

Beginning in 1991, the FTC brought an enforcement action against TRW (now
Experian) due to dissatisfaction with the accuracy of information reported in
consumer credit reports. Bxperian entered into a consent order with the FTC
requiring the company to take steps related to the same errors described in this

Complaint:

I (1) “Maintain reascnable procedures to prevent the

~ occurrence or reoccurrence of Mixed Files, including . . .
implementing and utilizing changes to its system designed
to prevent, to the extent it reasonably can, the reoccurrence
of Mixed Files, once known; . . . [and continue io meke]
cfforts to improve its information gathering, storing, and
generating systems to reduce the occurrence of Mixed
Files™;

{(2) “Follow reasonable procedures to assure maximum
possible accuracy of the information [in consumer credit
reports], including . . . [m]aintaining reasonable procedures
... to detect logical errors . . . {and informing subscribers]
that they will be expected to attempt to” obtain and report
to TRW full identifying information from consumers,
which includes “fisll 1ast and first name; middle initial; full
street address; zip code; year of birth; any generational
designation; and social security number,” and to use such
information when requesting consumer credit reports from
TRW;

(3) Reinvestigate information in a consumer’s credit report

which the consumer disputes as incomplete or inaccurate,

including {i) contacting the consumer if TRW cannot

determine the nature of the dispute, (i) informing the

“source used to verify the disputed information™ of the

“nature and substance” of the consumer’s dispute, (iii)

“[a]ccepting the Consumer’s version of the disputed

information and correcting or deleting the disputed item,

when the Consumer submits . . . documentation obtained

from the source . . . confirming that the disputed

information . . . was inaccurate or incomplete, and (iv) |
employing reasonable procedures to reinvestigate disputes ' |
regarding mixed files; : |
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{4) Maintain “reasonable procedures so that items , . .
which are deleted or corrected as inaccurate or unverifiable
upon reinvestigation, do not subsequently [relappear™;.. . ..

(8) When subscribers purchase consumer reports for resale

to an employer or potential employer of that consumer,

either, maintain “strict procedures to insure the public i
record information that is likely to have an adverse effect :
on & Consumer’s abitity to obtain employment is complete

and up-to-date™ or “notify the Consumez” of the disclosure;

and

1. For five years following the entry of the consent order,
TRW was required to “measure, monitor, and test the i
extent to which changes in [its] computer system, including |
its algorithms, reduce the incidence of Mixed Files” and é
submit the resulls of its findings.*®

156. The consent order between TRW / Experian and 19 state attormeys general, also
reached in 1991, contains similar remedial measures.”’

157, In 2005, Experian entered into another consent order with the FTC regarding
allegations that Experian deceptively marketed free credit reports by failing to
adequately disclose that consumers requesting “free” reports would be
automatically signed up and charged for credit monitoring services.”® Less than
two years fater, Experian agreed to pay $300,000 to settle charges it violated the

consent order.”

¢ FTCv. TRW, Inc., 784 F. Supp. 361, 362-65 (N.D. Tex. 1991) (consent
order), amended by (ND. Tex. Jan. 14, 1993) (agreed order amending consent order).
3T TRW Inc. v. Morales, No. 3-91-1340-H (N.D. Tex. Dec. 10, 1991) (consent
order),
% FTCv. Consumerinfo.com, No. CV SA CV05-801 AHS (C.D. Cal. Aug. 15,
2005) (stipulated final judgment).
® FICv. Consumerinfo.com, No. CV SA CV05-801 AHS (C.D. Cal. Jan. 8,
2007) (supplemental stipulated judgment and order for permanent injunction and
monetary relief).
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158.

159.

160.

161.

162.

More than two decades after the ficst consent judgment with the FTC and state
attorneys general, Experian continues to violate the same provisions of the FCRA
and persists with deceptive marketing of its credit monitoring services,
The language of the FCRA, guidance from the FTC, the consent orders entered
into between Experian and the FTC and state attorneys general, and millions of
complaints, -, and lawsuits from consumers on these very issues indicate
that Experian knew its policies, procedures, and practices violated the FCRA and
consumer protection laws. The lawsuits brought by consumers allege failure to
maintain maximum possible accuracy in consumer credit reports, failure to
reinvestigate errors, and other violations of the FCRA.®
Alternatively, Experian has acted with reckless disregard of the effect of its
conduct on consumers and compliance with the law,
In the alternative, the Attorney General alleges that Experian acted negligently in
failing to comply with its duties under the FCRA.
CLAIM I
Violation of the Mississippi Code § 75-24-5
(Mississippi Consnmer Protect Act)
The Attorney General realleges and incorporates herein by reference the

allegations contained in the preceding paragraphs of this Complaint.

0 See e.g., Stevenson v. IRW, Inc., No. 91-7142 (5th Cir. 1993); Shaw v.

Experian; No. 3:13-cv-01295 (8.D. Cal. June4 2013); Spearman v. Comenity Bank, No.
3:13-cv-00141 (N.D. Miss. May 30, 2013); Giardina v. Capital One Bank, No. 1:12-cv-
00053-WIG-RHW (S.D. Miss. Feb 17, 2012); Lampley v. Bank of Am., No. 1:12-cv-
00050-LG-JMR. (S.D. Miss. Feb 16, 2012); James v. Experian, No. 3:12-cv-00802 (E.D.
Va. Dec 26, 2012); Smith v. Equifax, No. 2:11-cv-00171 (N.D. Miss. Aug 15, 2011);
White v. Experian, Hernandez v. Fxperian, Na. 05-cv-1070 (C.D. Cal. Nov. 2, 2005).
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163.

164.

165.

166.

167.

The Mississippi Consumer Protection Act § 75-24-5 prohibits Experian from
engaging in “unfair or deceptive trade practices in or affecting commerce.”
Experian engaged in deceptive conduct through the marketing of its credit
‘monitoring services, credit scores, identity theft protection services, in violation
of § 75-24-5.

Experian further violates this section through its representation that consumers
receive all of the credit information provided to creditors about the consumer and
its failure to always provide consumers with the same information that creditors
receive about the consumer, which is deceptive and unfair, and prevents
consuimers from being able to identify and address errors in their credit reports.
Similarly, Experian’s faiture to employ reasonable procedures to ensure
maximum possible accuracy, its failure to reinvestigate consumer disputes and to
transmit all relevant information to fumishers, and its practice of re-aging or
allowing on credit reports aged, re-aged, or obsolete accounts and accounts
discharged in bankruptcy to show as due or past due and of allowing corrected or
deleted information to reappear are unfair practices and cannot be avoided or
corrected by Mississippi consumers.

Experian’s representations that it provides accurate credit reports, that it evaluates
furnishers® reviews of consumer disputes, and that it shares with the furnisher
“every single document” a conswmer provides with a dispute are deceptive and
misleading, Additionally, its failure to disclose the frequency and types of errors
in consumer credit reports is deceptive and creates a false and misleading

impression of the accuracy of credit reports.
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168.

169.

176,

171.

172

Expesian’s representations and acts discussed herein reasonably mislead or are
likely to mislead Mississippi consumers. These misleading representations and
practices are material. Additionally or in the alternative, Experian’s conduct
causes or is likely to cause substantizl injury to Mississippi consumers, such
injuries are not reasonably avoidable by consumer, and the injury is not
outweighed by countervailing bepefits to consumers or to competition.
Additionally, all of the acts and practices that violate the FCRA discussed herein
constitute uofair and deceptive practices or acts under the Mississippi Consumer
Protection Act. 15 U.8.C. § 1681s(a)(1); Miss. Code. § 75-24-3(c).
Thus, pursuant fo Mississippi Code sections 75-24-9 and 75-24-11 respectively,
the Attorney General seeks injunctive relief and restitution. Bxperian knowingly
and/or willfully engaged in the deceptive and unfair conduct described herein, and
therefore the Attomey General seeks civil penalties pursuant to Miss. Code § 75-
24-19(b). The Attorney General is entitled to recover costs and attoreys” fees
pursuant to § 75-24-19.
CLAIM IT 3
Violations of the Fair Credit Reporting Act, 15 U.8.C. § 1681e(h)
(Maximum Possible Accuracy)
The Attorney General realleges and incorporates herein by reference the
allegations contained in the preceding paragraphs of this Complaint.
Section 1681e(b) of the Fair Credit Reporting Act requires that, “[w]henever a
consumer reporting agency prepares a consumer report it shall follow reasonable

procedures to assure maximum possible accuracy of the information concerning

the individual about whom the report relates.”
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173.

174.

175.

Experian violated and continues to violate 15 U.S.C. § 1681e(b) by failing to
maintain and follow reasonable procedures to assure maximum possible accuracy
of consumer credif reports, resulting in inaccurate or misleading information
being reported in credit reports of Mississippi consumers. These inaccuracies
include but are not limited te: permitting inaccurate mixed files, public record
information, and QFAC alerts; failing to ensure that tradelines discharged in
bankruptcy appear as such on credit reports; failing to address other errors
brought to ifs attention; and failing to identify, address, or prevent errors in data
from unreliable sources.

Further, 15 U.S.C. § 1681i(a)(5) provides that when inacourate information is
“deleted from a consumer’s file . . . the information may not be reinserted in the
file by the consumer reporting agency unless the person who famishes the
information certifies that the information is complete and accurate.” Upon
information and belicf, Experian violated and continuqs to violate 15 U.S.C. §

1681i(a){5) by permitting the reinsertion of deleted, inaccurate information on

credit reports of Mississippi consumers without notice to consumers or

certification from the firnisher that it is accurate.

Experian’s conduct, action, and inaction was W{Hful, and therefore, the Attomey
General, on behalf ;)f affected Mississippi conswmers, is entitled to injuncﬁve
relief, actual or statutory damages, and punitive damages in an amount to be
determined by the Court pursaant o 15. U.S.C. § 1681s(c). In the altemative,
Experian’s conduct was negligent, entitling the Attorney General to injunctive

relief, and to recover actual or statutory damages under 15 U.S.C. § 1681s(c).
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176. The Attorney General is entitled to recover its costs, including attomeys’ fees, of
this action pursuant to 15 U.8.C. § 1681s(c).
CLAIM IIT

Violations of the Fair Credit Reporting Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1681i(a)
(Reasonable Reinvestigations)

177. ‘The Attorney General realleges and incorporates herein by reference the

|
|
i
} allegations contained in the preceding paragraphs of this Complaint.
178. Section 1681i{a) of the Fair Credit Repotting Act requires Experian to “conduct a l
reasonable reinvestigation to determine whether” information disputed by a
i consumer “is inaccurate and record the cusrent status of the disputed information,
l or delete the item from the file” and to “review and consider all relevant
: information submitted by the consumer in the [relevant] peried . . . with respect to
such disputed information.” .
179. By failing to conduct reasonable reinvestigations of disputes lodged by |
Mississippi consumers regarding information believed to be inaccurate in their
credit reports, by having staffing and compensation levels that make it difficult
for consumers to file disputes and employees to adequately record and
reinvestigate them, by requiring Mississippi consumers to purchase their credit
reports in order to file disputes, by relying on furnishers to conduct
reinvestigations, by failing to provide consumers with the sarne information it
gives creditors, and by failing to review and consider relevant information

submitted by Mississippi consumers with their disputes, Experian has violated

and continues to violate 15 U.8.C. § 1681i(a).
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180.

181.

182.

183.

184.

Experian’s conduct, action, and inaction was willful, and therefore, the Attomey
General, on behalf of affected Mississippi consamers, is entitled to injunctive
relief, actual or statutory damages, and punitive damages in an amount to be
determined by the Court pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 1681s(c). In the alternative,
Experian’s conduct was negligent, entitling the Attorney General to injunctive
relief, and to recover actual or statulory damages under 15 U.S.C. § 1681s{c).
The Attorney General is entitled to recover its costs, including attorneys” fees, of
this action pursuanf to 15 U.S.C. § 1681s(c). .
CLAIM IV
Violations of the Fair Credit Repotting Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1681i(a)
(Provide All Relevant Information to Fumnishers)
The Attorney General realleges and incorporates herein by reference the
allegations contained in the preceding paragraphs of this Complaint.
Section 1681i(a)(2) of the Fair Credit Reporting Act provides that Experian shall
provide prompt notice of consumer disputes to furnishers of information and

include “all relevant information regarding the dispute [it] has received from the

consumer.”

. :o: o5t Mississippi consumer disputes, Experian failed to

provide to furnishers any documents submitted by consumers, in violation of 15

U.S.C, § 1681i(a)(2). Even with the technological upgrades to e-OSCAR that

were implerented in NS, DN

I i violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1681i(a)(2).
|
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185.

186.

187.

188.

189.

190.

The Attorney General realleges and incorporates herein by reference the

Experian’s conduet, action, and inaction was willful, and therefore, the Attomey
General, on behalf of affected Mississippi consumers, is entitled to injunctive
relief, actual or statutory damages, and punitive damages in an amount ta be
determined by the Court pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 1681s(c). In the alternative,
Experian’s conduct was negligent, entitling the Attomey General to injunctive
relief, and to recover actual or statutory damages under 15 U.S.C. § 1681s(c).
The Attorney General is entitled to recover its costs, including attorneys’ fees, of
this action pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 1681s(c).

CLAIMV

Violations of the Fair Credit Reporting Act, 15 U.5.C. § 1681¢(a)
{Aged Accounts)

allegations contained in the preceding paragraphs of this Complaint.

Section 1681c{a) of the Fair Credit Reporting Act prohibits Bxperian from
“mak[ing] any consumer report containing . . . [a]ccounts placed for collection or
charged to profit and loss which antedate the report by more than seven years.”
Mississippi consumer credit reports issued by Experian sometimes contain
collection or charged off accounts that are more than 7 years past the date the
account became delinquent or are re-aged, making the date of collection or charge
off appear more recent, in violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1681c(a).

Experian’s conduct, action, and inaction was willful, and therefore, the Attorney
General, on behalf of affected Mississippi consumers, is entitled to injunctive

relief, actual or statutory damages, and punitive damages in an amount to be

determined by the Court pursuant to 15 U.8.C. § 1681s(c). In the alternative,
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191,

192,

193,

194,

195,

Experian’s conduct was negligent, entitling the Attorney General to injunctive
relief, and to recover actual or statutory damages under 15 U.S.C. § 1681s(c).
The Attomey General is entitled to recover its costs, including attorneys’ fees, of
this action pursuant to 15 U.8.C. § 1681s(c).
CLAIM VI
Violations of the Feir Credit Reporting Act, 15 U.S.C, § 1681i(a)(5)
(Prevent Reappearance of Deleted Informeation)
The Attorney Generzl realleges and incorporates herein by reference the
allegations contained in the preceding paragraphs of this Complaint.
Section 1681i(a)(5) of the Fair Credit Reporting Act requires that “[a] consumer
reporting agency shall maintain reasonable procedures designed to prevent the
reappearance in a consumer’s file, and in consumer reports on the consumer, of

information that is deleted” unless “the person who furnishes the information

“certifies that the information is complete and accurate” and “notiffies] the

consumer of the reinsertion in writing not later than 5 business days after the
reinsertion.”

Mississippi consumers’ credit reports issued by Experian sometimes contain
inaccurate information that was previously deleted or otherwise corrected, due to
a failure by Experian to maintain reasonable procedures to prevent the
reappearance of such information, in violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1681i(2)(5).
Additionally, upon information and belief, Experian fails to notify Mississippi
consumers when information previously deleted or corrected is reinserted into

their credit report, also in violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1681i(a)(5).
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196.

197.

" 198.

199.

200.

Experian’s conduct, action, and inaction is willful, and therefore, the Attorney
General, on behalf of affected Mississippi consumers, is entitled to injunctive
relief, notnal or statutory d@ages, and punitive damages in an amount to be
determined by the Court pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 1681s(c). In the alternative,
Experian’s conduct is negligent, entitling the Attorney General fo injunctive
relief, and to recover actual or statutory damages under 15 U.S.C. § 1681s(c).
The Attorney General is entitled to recover its costs, including attorneys® fees, of
this action pursuant fo 15 U.S.C, § 1681s(c).
CLAIM VH
Violations of the Fair Credit Reporting Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1681g(a)(1)
(Disclose Credit File to Consumers)
The Attorney General realleges and incorporates herein by reference the
allegations contained in the preceding paragraphs of this Complaint.
Section 1681g(a) of the Fair Credit Reporting Act requires that “[e]very consumer
reporting agency shall, upon request, . . . clearly and accurately disclose to the
consumer . . . [a]ll information in the consumer’s file at the time of the request.”
Experian has provided and continues to provide consumer credit reports to
creditors that sometitmes contain information that is not included in the credit
report obtained by consumers, in violation of this provision.
Experian’s conduct, action, and inaction was willful, an& therefore, the Attorney
General, on behalf of affected Mississippi consumers, is entitled to injunctive
relief, actual or statutory damages, and punitive damages in an amount {o be

determined by the Court pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 1681s(c). In the alternative,
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- 201,

202,

203.

204,

205.

206.

Experian’s conduct was negligent, entitling the Attorney General to injunctive
relief, and to recover actual or statutory damages under 15 U.S.C. § 1681s(c).
The Attorney General is entitled to recover its costs, including attomeys™ fees, of
this action purspant to 15 U.S.C. § 1681s(c).
CLAIM VLI
Violations of the 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)}(B)
(Dodd-Frank Act)
The Attorney General realleges and incorporates herein by reference the
allegations contained 1n the preceding paragraphs of this Complaint.
Section 5536(a)(1)(B) of the Dodd-Frank Act prohibits Experian from engaging
in “any unfair, deceptive, or abusive act or practice.”
Experian has engdged and continues to engage in deceptive conduct through the
marketing of its credit monitoring services, credit scores, and identity theft
protection services, in violation of 15 U.8.C. § 5536(a)(1)(B).
Experian further violates this section through its representation that consumers
receive all of the credit information provided to creditors about the consumer and
its failure to always provide consumers with the same information that creditors
receive about the consumer, which is deceptive and unfair and prevents
consumers from being able to identify and address errors in their credit reports.
Similarly, Experian’s failure to employ reasonable procedures to ensure
maximum possible accuracy, its failure to reinvestigate consumer disputes, failure
to transmit all relevant information to furnishers, and its practice of re-aging or
allowing on credit reports aged, re-aged, or obsolete accounts and accounts

discharged in bankruptcy to show as due or past due and of allowing corrected or
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207.

208.

209,

210.

délcted information to reappear are unfair practices and cannot be avoided or
corrected by Mississippi consumers.

Experian’s representations that it provides accurate credit reports, that it evaluates
furnishers’ reviews of consumer disputes, and that it shares with the furnisher
“gvery single document” a consumer provides with a dispute ate deceptive and
misleading. Additionally, its failure to disclose the frequency and types of errors
in consumer credit reports is deceptive and creates a false and misleading
impression of the accuracy of credit reports.

Experian’s representations and acts discussed herein reasonably mislead or are
likely to mislead Mississippi consumers. These misleading representations and
practices are material.

Additiopally or in the alternative, Experian’s conduct causes or is likely to cause
substantial injury to Mississippi consumers, such injuries are not reasonably
avoidable by consumer, and the injury is not outweighed by countervailing

benefits to consumers or to competition.

Therefore, pursuant to 12 U.8.C. § 5565, The Attorney General seeks restitution,
disgorgement of Experian’s revenue from these deceptive and unfair practices and
acts, rescission of agreements with Mississippi consumers for credit monitoring
services, identity theft protection services, and credit scores, damages as set forth
in subsection (c}, penalties, public notification regarding these violations of law,
including the costs of notification, and limits on the activities or functions of

Experian with regard to the offensive conduct.
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REQUEST FOR RELIEF
The Attorney General tequests this Honorable Court:

Declare that, on the basis of the conduct described herein, Expcrian violated
the Mississippi Consumer Protection Act, the Fair Credit Reporting Act, and
the Dodd-Frank Act;

Enjoin Experian from future violations of the Mississippi Consumer
Protection Act, the Fair Credit Reporting Act, and the Dodd-Frank Act;

Order Experian to remediate inaceurate or erroneons information on the credit
reports of Mississippi consumers;

. Require Experian to:

) pay restitution to consumers who were deceptively marketed products
or services in violation of the Mississippi Consumer Protection Act
and the Dodd-Frank Act;

. pay civil penalties under the Mississippi Consumer Protection Act and
the Dodd-Frank Act;

. pay statutory or actual damages for violations of the Fair Credit
Reporting Act, and punitive damages for Experian’s willful violations
of the Fair Credit Reporting Act; and

. disgorge revenue gained through Experian’s violations of the Dodd-
Frank Act.

Require Experian, at its own expense, to provide notice to the public of its

-violations of the Dodd-Frank Act;

Order Experian to pay the cost of this lawsuit, including attorneys® fees; and

Such other relief as the Court deems just.
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Respectfully submitted,

DATED thi/s/f day of May, 2014.

PLAINTIFF, STATE OF MISSISSIPPI ex rel.
JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL OF THE
STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

Geoffrey Mofgan, MSB No. 3474
George W. Neville, MSB No. 3822
Mary Jo Woods, MSB No. 10468

S. Martin Millette, MSB No. 102416
Special Assistant Attorneys General
Office of the Mississippi Attorney General
P.O. Box 220

Jackson, MS 39205

Telephone: 601-359-3680

Facsimile: 601-359-2003

Email: gmorg@ago.state.ms.us,
gnevi@ago.state.ms.us,
mwood(@ago.state.ms.us,
mamil@ago.state.ms.us

ey

Wynn E. Clark, MSB No. 6279
Law Firm of Wynn E. Clark
2510 16th Street

Gulfport, MS 39501

Telephone: 228-575-9996
Facsimile: 228-575-9030
Email: wynnclark@bellsouth.net
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Case: 24CH1:14-cv-01212 Document#: 3  Filed: 05/16/2014 Page 1 of 2

IN THE CHANCERY COURT OF HARRISON COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI
FIRST JUDICIAL DISTRICT

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI ex rel.
JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL OF
THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI PLAINTIFF

H L E |ACTION NO. 1 U( - l‘l L l(bl.

MAY 16 20%

EXPERIAN INFORMATION JOHN M ADA S, CHANCERY CLERK
SOLUTIONS, INC. /%LL_CLMJ@/_‘*DC. DEFENDANT

ORDER

VERSUS

There is before the Court the Motion of the Plaintiff, the State of Mississippi, through
the Attorney General, for leave to file the unredacted Complaint under seal until further
Order of the Court, because of certain information in the Complaint may constitute
confidential or otherwise protected information. The Court has considered the Motion, and
finds that the Motion should be granted to the following extent.

IT IS, THEREFORE, FOUND AND ORDERED that:

1. The unredacted Complaint may contain confidential or otherwise protected
information under Miss. Code Ann. §75-24-27(2-3), for which the Court should consider
in an adversary hearing whether the information should be unsealed.

2. Until the Court holds such a hearing, the Plaintiff is granted leave, nunc pro
tunc to the time of the filing of the Complaint, to file the unredacted Complaint under seal

in a closed envelope.
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Case: 24CH1:14-cv-01212 Document #: 3  Filed: 05/16/2014 Page 2 of 2

3. The Plaintiff may serve the Summons and a copy of the Complaint under seal
and the redacted Complaint on the Defendant. The Defendant is ordered to file its
response to the Complaint under seal.

SO FOUND AND ORDERED on this _/// day of May, 2014.

Wbt

CHANCELLOR

| Submitted by:

|
- Attorney For Plaintiff
| C/ Wynn E. Clark
2510 16™ Street
Gulfport, MS 39501
(228) 575-9996
(228) 575-9030
Email: wynnclark@bellsouth.net
Miss. Bar No. 6279

~ ~
J\Fr\&u v QW\ ‘
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Case: 24CH1:14-cv-01212 Document#:4  Filed: 05/16/2014 Page 1 of1l
IN THE CHANCERY COURT OF HARRISON COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

FIRST JUDICIAL DISTRICT

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI ex rel.
JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL OF ,
THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI PLAINTIFF

VERSUS CIVIL ACTION NO. \ L\-/ - lz \l L‘/

EXPERIAN INFORMATION
SOLUTIONS, INC.

DEFENDANT

SUMMONS
STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

TO: EXPERIAN INFORMATION SOLUTIONS, INC.
CIO CT CORPORATION SYSTEM
645 LAKELAND EAST DR STE 101
FLOWOOD, MS 39232

Notice To Defendant

THE COMPLAINT WHICH IS ATTACHED TO THIS SUMMONS IS
IMPORTANT AND YOU:MUST TAKE IMMEDIATE ACTION TO.
PROTECT YOUR RIGHTS.

You are required to mail or hand-deliver a copy of a written response to the
Complaint to George Neville, attorney for the Plaintiff, whose mailing address is
Office of the Mississippi Attorney General, P.O. Box 220, Jackson, MS 39205, and whase
street address is Office of the Attorney General, Suite 1200, 550 High Street, Jackson, MS
39201. Your response must be mailed or delivered within thirty (30) days from the date of
delivery of this Summons and Complaint or a judgment by default will be entered against
you for the money or other things demanded in the Complaint.

You must also file the original of your response with the Clerk of this Court within
a reasonable time afterward.

Issued under my hand and the seal of this Court, this ‘b day of/ \ﬁz JE z

2014.

JOHN MCADAMS CLERK OF COURT

_ l "“ N\%'I‘ vt rf
BY: DEPUTY CLERKQF COURT COURT o7
George Neville- Miss. Bar No. 3822 e \\\‘3 SEON
Office of the Mississippi Attorney General S R = .é-’ S
P.0. Box 220, Jackson, MS 39205 T o S e
Suite 1200, 550 High Street, Jackson, MS 39201 ~ ' & ° ' .. ! _-'( i e
Phone (601) 359-3908 Fax (601) 359-2003 N E A
Email: gnevi@ago.state.ms.us A i e
"y

Attorneys For Plaintiff '?//’}

£»-~&e_ \2—_@ S/Ss pm \\\\

i AW
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IN THE CHANCERY COURT OF HARRISON COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI
THE FIRST JUDICIAL DISTRICT

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI ex rel,
JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL OF

- THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI PLAINTIFF
VERSUS CIVIL ACTION NO.: 14-1212 (4)
EXPERIAN INFORMATION
SOLUTIONS, INC. DEFENDANT

FIRST REQUEST BY PLAINTIFF STATE OF MISSISSIPPI
FOR PRODUCTION OF DOCUMENTS

Pursuant to Rules 26 and 34 of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure, Plaintiff
State of Mississippi (hereafter "State™) hereby requests that Defendant Experian
Information Solutions, Inc. (“Experian” or “Defendant”) produce the foliowing
documents and things for inspection and copying at the offices of the Attorney General
for the State of Mississippi, P.O. Box 220, Jackson, MS 39205-0220, c/o George W.
Neville, Special Assistant Attorney General, in accordance with the Definitions and
Instructions below, within 45 days of the date of service hereof pursuant fo the
Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure. The State requests that a copy of the documents
and things for inspection be provided to Linda Singer, Cohen Milstein Sellers & Toll,

1100 New York Avenue, NW, Suite 500, Washington, DC 20005.
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DEFINITIONS

Unless otherwise defined in this subpoena, the following terms shall have these

meanings:

I. “EXPERIAN,” “YOU” or “YOUR? refer to the entity to which these discovery
requests are addressed, including all owners, officers, agents and employees thereof, and
any predecessor, successor, parent, subsidiary, d/b/a, and affiliated companies or other
entities.

2, “ALL” shall be construed to include the collective as well as the singular and
shall mean “each,” “any,” and “every.”

3. “ANY?” shall be construed to mean “any and all.”

4. “CONSUMER(S)” refers to any individual for whom Experian has records of
any kind.

5. “CONSUMER CREDIT INFORMATION? refers to any information collected
or reported by You regarding the credit history, status, or activities of any Consumer.

6. “CONSUMER CREDIT REPORT(S)” refers to any information provided to a
Consumer who requesis a credit report from You.

7. “CONSUMER DISPUTE(S)” refers to any inquiry by or on behalf of a
Consumer regarding whether information collected by Experian about the Consumer is
accurate, properly reported, or in compliance with legal requirements, including but not

limited to telephonic, written, and online inquiries made via Experian’s webpage.
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8. “CREDIT REPORT(S)” refers to ALL information collected by Experian from
any source regarding a Consumer and provided to an outside entity such as Furnishers,
Subscribers, Creditors, Consumers, or Employers. -

9. “EDUCATIONAL CREDIT SCORE” refers to credit scores offered by You .
that are calculated on the PLUS Score model.

19. “DOCUMENT(S)” and “DOCUMENTATION" mean any writing or any other
tangible thing, whether printed, recorded (in audio, video or by any other means),
reproduced by any process, or written or produced by hand, including, but not limited to,
letters, memoranda, notes, opinions, bocks, reports, studies, agreements, statements,
communications (including inter-company and intra-company communications),
correspondence, telegrams, logs, bookkeeping entries, summaries or records of personal
conversations, diaries, calendars, telephone messages and logs, forecasts, photographs,
tape recordings, models, statistical statements, graphs, laboratory and engineering reports,
notebooks, charts, plans, drawings, minutes, bylaws, resolutions, records of conferences,
expressions or statements of policy, lists of persons attending meetings or conferences,
lists of clients or customers or suppliers, reports or summaries of interviews, opinions or
reports of negotiations, brochures, pamphiets, advertisements, circulars, trade letters,
press releases, drafts of any document and revisions of drafts of any document, and any
other similar paper or record. The term “document” also includes a copy of a document
where the copy is not exactly the same as the original. The ferm “document” also
includes emails and other documents made or stored in electronic form, whether kept on
computers, computer tapes, disks or drives of any type, or other media upon which

information may be recorded.
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11. “EMPLOYEE? refers to a person who works in the setvice of another person or
entity under an express or implied contract of hire, under which the employer has the
right to control the details of work performance and includes current and former
employees,

12. “FURNISHER(S)” refers to any individual, company or other entity that
furnishes information that is incorporated or associated with a Credit Report.

13, “INCLUDING?" is used merely to emphasize certain types of documents
requested and should not be construed as limiting the request in any way.

14, “MIXED FILE(S)” refers to any Credit Report that includes information or
records of any kind for more than one Consumer.

{5. “OBSOLETE INFORMATION?” refers to information in a Credit Report that is
outdated or appears in violation of state or federal statutory requirements regarding the
duration of time information may appear on a Credit Report.

16, “PIN” or “PIN Matching System™ refers to Your process for matching
consumer information, including Consumer Credit Information and personal identifying
information, with individual consumers,

17, “PUBLIC RECORD INFORMATION? refers to documents issued by a
county, state or federal government that typically are available to the public, including
but not limited to bankruptcies, tax liens, and civil judgments.

18. “SCRIPT(S)” refers to any Document intended to assist Your agents or
employees with proposed language to use, typically in responding to Consumer Disputes

or marketing services or products to Consumers,
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INSTRUCTIONS

A, Compliance with these Requests is to be made in conformance with your
obligations under the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure.

B. When providing your responses, please indicate the Request to which each
document or answer responds in the metadata field, RequestNo.

C. Documents shall be produced in accordance with Rule 34(b) of the
Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure and as they are kept in the usual course of business.

D. To the extent that potentially responsive documents or responses relate to
individuals or practices of regional or national scope that would have impacted or
involved Mississippi, provide those documents and responses, along with Mississippi-
specific information,

E. For each document that you produce, produce the current version together
with ali earlier editions or predecessor documents during the relevant time period, even
though the title of eartier documents may differ from current versions.

F. These Requests shall be deemed continuing in character so as to require
prompt supplemental responses if additional documents called for herein are obtained,
discovered, or become known to Defendant between the time of responding to the
Requests and the final disposition of this action,

G. Requested format for documents produced electronically in response to
this Request: :

1. Any documents produced in response to this Request should be
provided as a Group 4 compression single-page “TIFF” image that
reflects how the source document would have appeared if printed out
to a printer attached to a computer viewing the file. Extracted text will
be included in the manner provided herein. To the extent that
extracted text does not exist, these images will be processed through
Optical Character Recognition (“OCR?”) so that they are fully
searchable. Extracted text and OCR will be provided in the DAT
Concordance load file. "Load files" shall be produced to accompany
the images and shall facilitate the use of the litigation support database
system, Concordance, to review the produced images.

2. Document Unitization. Each page of a document shall be
electronically converted into an image as described above. Ifa
document is more than one page, the unitization of the document and
any attachments and/or affixed notes shall be maintained as it existed
in the original when creating the image file and appropriately
designated in the load files, The corresponding parent/attachment
relationships, to the extent possible, shall be provided in the load files
furnished with each production.

3. Bates Numbering. Each page of a produced document shall have a
legible, unique page identifier (“Bates Numbet”} electronically
branded onto the image at a location that does not obliterate, conceal,

5
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or interfere with any information from the source document, In order
to ensure that the Bates Numbers do not obscure portions of the
documents, the images may be proportionally reduced to create a
larger margin in which the Bates Number may be branded. There shall
be no other legend or stamp placed on the document image, except
those sections of a document that are redacted to eliminate material
protected from disclosure by the attorney-client or work product
privileges shall have the legend “REDACTED” placed in the location
where the redaction(s) occurred or shall otherwise note the location
a;u?f'or Cl]ocation of the information for which such protections are
claimed.

4. File Naming Conventions. Each document image file shall be named
with the unique Bates Number of the page of the document in the case
of single-page TIFFs, followed by the extension “TIF”. Each
document shall be named with a unique document identifier,
Attachments shall have their own unique document identifiers.

5. Production Media. The documents should be produced on CD-ROM,
DVD, external hard drive (with standard Windows PC compatible
interface), (the *“Production Media™). Each piece of Production Media
shall identify a production number correspending fo the production
"wave" the documents on the Production Media are associated with
(e.g., “V001”, “V002”), as well as the volume of the material in that
production wave (e.g., “-001”, “-002”), For example, if the first
production wave comprises document images on three hard drives, the
Respondent shall label each hard drive in the following manner:
“V001-001”, “V001-002”, “V001-003”, Additional information that
shall be identified on the physical Production Media shall include: (1)
text referencing that it was produced in [Case Docket Ne.], (2) the
producing party’s name, (3) the production date, and (4) the Bates
Number range of the materials contained on the Production Media.

6. Objective Coding/Extracted Meta Data, Respondent shall produce
with each production of documents extracted metadata for each
document (the “Objective Coding™) included in the DAT load file.
The data file shall include the fields and type of content set forth in the
SPECIAL INSTRUCTIONS FOR ELECTRONICALLY STORED
MATERITAL section. Objective Coding shall be labeled and produced
on Production Media in accordance with the provisions set forth
above.

7. Native format for Excel and databases. To the extent that such
documents exist in Excel or another spreadsheet program, produce the
document in its native format. To the extent that the document format
constitutes a database created or maintained in Access or another
software program, produce the document in its native format. [fthe
database is based upon proprietary software, produce whatever keys
and instructions are necessary to review it.

H. Requested format for hard copies of documents produced in response to
this Request:




Case 1:14-cv-00243-LG-JMR Document 1-2 Filed 06/12/14 Page 95 of 102

1. create electronic copies of the documents and produce them in
accordance with the procedures described in the section
INSTRUCTIONS 4 G herein, provided that you retain the originals
from which the electronic copies were made until the final disposition
of the matier;

2, include a leadfile with corresponding information including the
following data fields: BegDoc, EndDoc, Custodian, DocTitle,
Filename, RequestNo.;

a) the Custodian field in the loadfile should contain the name of the
custodian or location from which the hard copy document was taken;

b) the RequestNo, field should contain the number of the Request(s) to
which the document is responsive.

1. This Request requires you to produce all described documents in your
possession, custody or control without regard to the person or persons by whom or for
whom the documents were prepared (e.g., your employees, distributors or dealers,
competitots or others).

J. If, after exercising due diligence to secure the answer, you cannot answer
a question in full, state your answer to the fullest extent possible and state why you are
unable to answer the question fully. If the question does not apply to you, indicate that it
is not applicable and state why it is not applicable.

K. If any responsive document was, but no longer is, in your possession,
custody or control, produce a description of each such document. The description shall
include the following:

1. the name of each author, sender, creator, and initiator of such
document;
2, the name of each recipient, addressee, or party for whom such

document was intended;

the date the document was created;

the date(s) the document was in use;

the title of the document

a detailed description of the content of the document;

the reason it is no longer in your possession, custody or control; and

e A B o

the document’s present whereabouts and custodian thereof.
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L. In the event a document that is responsive to these requests is not in your
possession but you have a right to obtain the document or a copy of the document from a
third party, you must obtain it (or a copy) and produce it in response to these requests.

M.  Ifthe document is no longer in existence, in addition to providing the
information indicated above, state on whose instructions the document was destroyed or
otherwise disposed of, and the date and manner of the disposal.

N. If you withhold any responsive document, or portion thercof for any
reason, including, but not limited to, a claim of privilege, provide a detailed log that
contains the following information for each document that you have withheld:

1. the name of each author, writer, sender, creator, or initiator of such
document;

2, the name of each recipient, addressee, or party for whom such
document was intended;

3. the date of such document or an estimate thereof if no date appears on
the document;

4, description of the subject matter of the document sufficient to enable
the State to assess the claim of privilege; and

5. the claimed grounds for withholding the document, including, but not
| limited to, the nature of any claimed privilege and grounds in support
thereof.

O. Produce documents in the order in which you maintained them in your
files, in copies of their original file folders, labeled with the folder’s original file labels.
De not mask any portion of any document; produce the entite document. Produce all
attachments to responsive documents attached to the responsive documents. Provide a
key to all abbreviations used in documents and attach the key to the appropriate
documents.

P. If you obtain information or documents responsive to any demand or
question after you have submitted your responses, you have an affirmative duty to
supplement your responses with any new and or different information and/or documents
that become available to you.

SPECIAL INSTRUCTIONS FOR ELECTRONICALLY STORED MATERIAL

All electronic documents should be produced in accordance with the following
instructions:

A, Single page TIFFs at a 300 DPI resolution which are named for the Bates
Number of the page. There should NOT be more than 1000 images per folder.

B. Document level text files containing OCR or extracted text named with
the Bates Number of the first page of the document,




Case 1:14-cv-00243-LG-JMR Document 1-2 Filed 06/12/14 Page 97 of 102

C. Data load file containing all of the metadata fields (both system and
application — see list below) from the original Native documents with extension .dat for
Concordance.

D. The Concordance .dat file of extracted metadata should be delimited with
the Concordance default characters — ASCII 020 for the comma character and ASCIT 254
for the quote character. The use of commas and quotes as delimiters is not acceptable.

E. The database field name should be included in the first line of the
metadata file listed in the order they appear in the file,

F. An image loadfile for Concordance — such as .opt.

G. For electronic documents created in Excel (spreadsheets) or Access
{databases), provide those documents in Native format.

H. If requested by the State, specific documents shall be produced in native

form,

I For all documents produced, provide the following:

REQUIRED METADATA FIELDS

BEGDOC ENDDOC
BEGATTACH ENDATTACH
ATTCOUNT ATTACH
CUSTQODIAN AUTHOR
FROM TO
cC BCC
FILESIZE PGCOUNT
DATERECD TIMERECD
DATESENT TIMESENT
CRTDATE CRTTIME
LASTMODDATE LASTMODTIME
LASTACCDATE LASTACCTIME
TITLE SUBJECT
EMAILSUBJECT FILENAME
FILEEXT MDSHASH
ORGANIZATION FULLPATH
RECORD TYPE VERSION
VOLUME COMMENT
PRINTEDDATE ENTRYID
ATTLST ITEMTYPE
PSTINSIDEPATH ITEMCREATIONTIME
REQATTANDEES REMINDERTIME
REPLYTIME APPOINTMENTSTARTDATE
APPOINTMENTDURATIONTIME APPOINTMENTCONTACT
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CATEGORY KEYWORDS
MANAGER LASTAUTHOR
ENCRYPTED FAMILYDATE
NATIVELINK TEXTPATH
REQUESTNO
SPECIAL INSTRUCTIONS FOR DOCUMENTS STORED IN PROPRIETARY
DATABASES

Documents stored in proprietary databases should be produced in such a way that
the data, information, and functionality of the original database(s) is not lost.

TIME PERIOD

Unless otherwise indicated, the applicable time period for these discovery
requests is from 2006 until the present.

DOCUMENT REQUESTS

REQUEST NO. 1:

Produce all Documents that were not previously produced in response to the
Mississippi  Attorney General’s Civil Administrative Subpoenas pertaining to or
containing explanations, instructions, procedures, potential or actual changes, problems,
issues, or concerns regarding the reporting of Consumer Credit Information satisfied, or
discharged in bankruptcy or the handling of Consumer Disputes regarding such credit
information,

REQUEST NO. 2:

Produce all executed agreements or contracts, including any amendments,
appendices, exhibits, or schedules, with vendors or third parties that provide services in
connection with the coliection or reporting of Consumer Credit Information or the
handling of Consumer Disputes. This includes but is not limited to production of
unredacted agreements or contracts with LexisNexis Risk & Informaticn Analytics Group
Inc. that were previously produced with redactions,

REQUEST NO. 3:

Produce all executed agreements or contracts, including any amendments,
appendices, exhibits, or schedules, with the top ten Furnishers, by volume of Consumer
Credit Information reported.

REQUEST NO. 4:

‘ Produce all depositions and/or transeriptions of testimony provided by Gerald
Ochoa and Patricia Henderson when they were Your Employees, and all of Your

10
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interrogatory responses, depositions and/or transcripts of testimony from January 1, 2010
and later, that were not previously produced in response to the Mississippi Attorney
General’s Civil Administrative Subpoenas, regarding (1) re-investigation of Consumer
Disputes, (2) the criteria or process used to prepare, assemble, and produce Credit
Reports and Consumer Credit Reports or the OFAC Name Matching Service (and any
predecessor service), (3) verifying Furnishers’ accuracy in reporting consumer
information andfor investigating Consumer Disputes, (4) Mixed Files, (5) inaccurate or
Obsolete Information in Consumer Credit Repotts, (6) information that re-appeared on a
Consumer Credit Report after being deleted, corrected, or suppressed, (7) efforts to
ensure maximum possible accuracy of Credit Reports and Consumer Credit Reports (8)
Consumer Credit Reports provided to creditors that contain information that is not in the
Credit Report prepared for the consumer, and (9) Educational Credit Scores and credit
monitoring services and products You offer to consumers and the marketing thereof.

REQUEST NO, §:

Produce any presentations, reports, memoranda, agendas, and assessmenfs
provided to or requested by Your management or board of directors and Your committees
(whether committees of your employees or of the board of directors), including but not
fimited fo the Law and Policy Committee and the Reasonable Procedures Committee,
regarding the subtopics in Request 4.

REQUEST NO. 6:

| Produce all Documents that were not previously produced in response to the
| Mississippi Attorney General’s Civil Administrative Subpoenas regarding the creation,
‘ implementation, marketing, use internally and externally of Polaris and audits, reviews,
| or assessments conducted using Polaris.

REQUEST NO. 7:

\
|
Produce all Documents that were not previously produced in response to the
Mississippi Attorney General’s Civil Administrative Subpoenas pertaining to or
containing explanations, instructions, procedures, potential or actual changes, disclosures,
problems, issues, or concerns regarding Your OFAC Name Matching Service, and any
predecessor service, including but not limited to:

» all Decuments relating to questions or concerns raised by the U.S.
Department of Treasury regarding the Service; and

o all Documents used to market the Service.

REQUEST NO, 8;:

Produce all Documents pertaining to or containing explanations, instructions,
procedutes, potential or actual changes, problems, issues, or concerns regarding the

11
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deletion or suppression of inaccurate or Obsolete Information on Consumer Credit
Reports.

REQUEST NO. 9:

Produce all complaints, concerns, or recommendations for change expressed by
Your agents, Employees, vendors, coniractors, or Furnishers regarding the subtopics in
Request 4 that were not previously produced in response to the Mississippi Attorney
General’s Civil Administrative Subpoenas.

REQUEST NO. 10:

Produce all Documents regarding or reflecting Your strategies, plans, methods,
and/or approaches to market and/or maximize the sales of or revenue from Educational
| Credit Scores or credit moniforing services or products to consumers that were not
| previously produced in response to the Mississippi Attorney General’s Civil
| Administrative Subpoenas; and Documents relating to any testing or surveys of
consumers’ response to Your marketing of Educational Credit Scores or credit
’ monitoring services or products and/or their satisfaction with such products and services,
L

REQUEST NO. 11:

Produce ail Documents relating to Your decision to market Credit Reports for $1.

REQUEST NO. 12:

Produce all Documents regarding the development, implementation, enforcement,
monitoring, auditing, and reviews of industry-based rules for data Furnishers.

REQUEST NO. 13:

Produce all Documents regarding analyses, assessments, and disclosures of how
Educational Credit Score(s) marketed by You to consumers compare with FICO or other
credit scores offered by You or others, including but not limited to Documents relating or
responding to a comparative analysis conducted by the Consumer Financial Protection
Bureau.

REQUEST NO. 14:

Produce a sample (size and methodology to be agreed upon) of recordings of
Consumer Disputes made by phone {0 You by Mississippi consumers and all consumer
complaints or disputes made by Mississippi consumers to You regarding Your marketing
or sales of credit monitoring services or products, or Educational Credit Scores.

12
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REQUEST NO. 15:

Produce émy Documents reflecting or analyzing the aggregate or and/or unit cost
of handling Consumer Disputes under Your existing processes and under proposed,
former, or alternative procedures.

REQUEST NO. 16:

Produce any Documents reflecting or analyzing Your annual revenue from sales
and subscriptions of credit monitoring services and Educational Credit Scores both to
Mississippi consumers and, separately, to all consumers nationally.

REQUEST NO. 17:

Produce all Documents that were not previously produced in response to the
Mississippi Attorney General's Civil Administrative Subpoenas relating to internal or
external audits, reviews, evaluations, or assessments of information, data, systems, and
procedures that affect the accuracy of Your Consumer Credit Reports and any changes
(whether made or only considered, or recommended), including but not limited to:

e Your criteria or process used to prepare, assemble, and produce Credit
Reports and Consumer Credit Reports to Consumers, Subscribers,
Creditors, or Employers, including your PIN Matching System;

¢ Your reinvestigation process;

¢ Your handling of Consumer Disputes;

¢ Services provided by LexisNexis Risk & Information Analytics Group
Inc. involving public record information; and

* Any other subtopic in Request 4

REQUEST NO. 18:

Produce Documents that reflect Your ownership interest in On Line Data
Exchange LLC (*OLDE”) and any Documents reflecting or analyzing Your financial
contributions or payments to or revenue or payments from OLDE.

REQUEST NO. 19:

Produce Your Document retention policies in effect since January 1, 2006 and the
litigation hold letter issued in connection with the Mississippi Aftorney General’s
investigation of You.
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Respectfully submitted,

DATED this é day of June, 2014.

PLAINTIFF, STATE OF MISSISSIPPI ex rel,
JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL OF THE
STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

A&W«—\
Geoffrey Morgdn, MSB No. 3474 <‘/
George W. Neville, MSB No. 3822

Mary Jo Woods, MSB No. 10468

S, Martin Millette, MSB No. 102416
Special Assistant Attorneys General
Office of the Mississippi Attorney General
P.O. Box 220

Jackson, MS 39205

Telephone: 601-359-3680

Facsimile: 601-359-2003

Email: gmorg@ago.state.ms.us,
gnevi@ago.state.ms.us,
mwood@ago.state.ms.us,
mamil@ago.state.ms.us

By:

Wynn E. Clark, MSB No, 6279
Law Firin of Wynn E. Clark
2510 16th Street

Gulfport, MS 39501

Telephone: 228-575-9996
Facsimile: 228-575-9030
Email: wynnclark@bellsouth.net



